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Health and Safety
The Group strongly believes that ensuring a stable and safe production 
environment is the most important social responsibility to the stakeholders 
and also one of the major priorities in the corporate management. The 
health and safety measures listed below are some examples already taken 
in place within the Group:

•	 Sophisticated occupational health and safety management systems 
have been established in the production facilities;

•	 Canopies and other protection devices have been installed to ensure 
the safe operation of production machinery and equipment;

•	 Trainings on safety, fire and chemical leaking drills are organised at the 
production facilities;

•	 Health checks are conducted on a regular basis at the production 
facilities to monitor employees’ health;

•	 Comprehensive medical insurance including outpatient treatments and 
other wellness is provided to the headquarters’ employees;

•	 Fire-fighting facilities, e.g. fire extinguishers, smoke detectors and etc., 
are equipped in the production facilities and headquarters; and

•	 Several production facilities have installed activated carbon filter 
systems on the rooftops. All the exhaust gases produced in the factory, 
such as solder dust and injection gas, were filtered through the filter 
boxes and then discharged at high altitude.

Also, the Group has assigned relevant department to inspect daily 
operations by the established risk assessment program which consists of 
a series of steps such as risk identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment, 
monitoring and reviewing and thus non-compliance will be identified and 
rectified timely.

The Group continued to arrange frequent and intensive cleaning and 
disinfection in the workplace and host various health workshops and 
activities to maintain employees’ health awareness regularly. During 
the Review Period, in addition to organising various sports games 
including table tennis competition to promote healthy culture, the PRC 
production facilities had provided trainings related to workplace emotional 
intelligence management (See Figure 18), lumbar muscle strain treatment 
and prevention (See Figure 19) etc. Meanwhile, the headquarters had 
encouraged staff to participate the following webinars to promote the 
knowledge in area of chronic diseases prevention and mental health:

•	 “Sleep Well, Feel Well: Improving Sleep Quality” Online Seminar; and

•	 “Take Care of Your Heart: Understanding Hypertension, Hyperlipidemia, 
and Hyperglycemia – Obesity and Cardiovascular Diseases” Webinar.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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The Group makes every effort to create a healthy, safe, stable and 
harmonised working environment effectively. Every case of injury (if any) is 
required to be reported to the Human Resources Department immediately 
and be assessed under internal guidelines. The Group is pleased to 
report that the rate of accidents and injuries during the Review Period 
was extremely low with zero fatal accident in the past 3 years. The total 
number of lost days due to work injury is 595 days (period from 1 April 
2023 to 31 December 2023: 32 days) for the Group

During the Review Period, the Group was not aware of any material 
noncompliance with the health and safety laws and regulations.

Figure 20: Health and safety
20

Rate of work injury (per thousand employees)
工傷率（每千名僱員）

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

0.9

Year ended
31.12.2024

2.32

Number of work injuries
工傷數字

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

截至2023年
12月31日止九個月

Year ended
31.12.2024

截至2024年
12月31日止年度

截至2023年
12月31日止九個月

截至2024年
12月31日止年度

514

Figure 18: “Workplace Emotional Intelligence” 
Training

18

Figure 19: “Treatment and Prevention of Lumbar 
Muscle Strain” Training
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Development and Training
The Group recognises the importance of skilled and professionally 
trained employees to the business growth and future success. Therefore, 
the Group advocates the culture of lifelong learning through providing 
tuition fee subsidy and encouraging employees to participate in personal 
development and job-related training courses. During the Review Period, 
the Group organised quality assurance training in production processes, 
inspection assurance of materials received from supplier, health and safety 
precautions in using production equipment and machinery. Moreover, 
in order to maintain the highest standard of professionalism among 
employees, the Group also formulated training programs on quality and 
environment management, including IATF16949, ISO9001, ISO14001, 
ISO14064 as well as ISO14064 internal audit, among others, to ensure 
employees are informed of the latest international standard set by the 
International Automotive Task Force (IATF) or International Organisation 
for Standardisation (ISO).

In daily operations, the Group provides induction training for new employees 
and experienced employees act as mentors to guide new recruits. The 
Group believes such arrangement can facilitate communication and team 
spirit, improve technical skills and managerial capability, encourage the 
learning and further development of employees at all levels.

The Group also provides relevant training to develop and enhance the 
employees in all management aspects, e.g. leadership, communication 
skills, team building and motivation, effective execution and etc. (See 
Figure 21), to train them as the potential leaders and successors for the 
management team.

In addition to providing on-site classroom training for staff members, 
the Group also promotes self-directed learning through various channels 
and innovative formats, making the learning process more attractive. The 
Group’s internal e-Newsletter features columns on sustainability-related 
reference articles, information and tips, such as introducing the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the impact of climate 
change on industry, and understanding community investment.

The Group will continue to intensify the efforts to promote and develop 
employee training programs. It believes that by means of offering 
comprehensive training opportunities, it could help to provide sufficient 
talent capital for corporate development. The Group annually evaluates 
the training needs to ensure that employees are provided with suitable and 
appropriate training according to their job nature, position, required and 
potential competences for further development.

IATF16949 ISO9001 ISO14001
ISO14064 ISO14064

(IATF)
(ISO)

21

Figure 21: Workshop on “Effective Execution”
21
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Male
男性

Female
女性

Gender
性別

2% 7% 37% 46%

54%
89% 80%

49%4%1%

Managers
or above4

經理或以上4

Supervisors and
general staff4

主管及一般僱員4

Workers4

職工4
Percentage of

employees
trained by
gender4

按性別劃分的
受訓僱員所
佔百分比4

Year ended 
31.12.2024
截至2024年

12月31日止年度

Overall percentage of employees trained5

整體受訓僱員所佔百分比5

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023
截至2023年
12月31日
止九個月

Note 4:	 Percentage of employees trained in the specified category = Number of employees in 
the specified category who took part in training/Total number of employees who took 
part in training during the Review Periodx100.

Note 5:	 Overall percentage of employees trained = Total number of employees who took part 
in training/Total number of employees during the Review Periodx100.

4   = 
x100

5   = 
x100

6   = 

7   = 

Figure 22: Development and training
22

Percentage of employees trained in the Review Period

Average training hours completed per employee in the Review Period

Male
男性

Female
女性

Gender
性別

Overall
整體

20

20 33

29

36 29

31

30

29

30 30 2620

Managers
or above6

經理或以上6

Supervisors and
general staff6

主管及一般僱員6

Workers6

職工6

Average
training 
hours by 
gender6

按性別劃分
的平均
培訓時數6

Year ended
31.12.2024
截至2024年
12月31日止年度

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023
截至2023年
12月31日
止九個月

Overall average training hours7

整體受訓平均時數7

Note 6:	 Average training hours in the specified category = Number of training hours of the 
specified category/Total number of employees under the specified category during the 
Review Period.

Note 7:	 Overall Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours/Total 
number of employees during the Review period.
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Supply Chain Management
Optical fibres, copper wires, connectors, central processing units and 
hard disks; copper and plastic are major materials used by the production 
facilities in the cable assembly, digital cable and server manufacturing 
respectively.

The Group implements supplier management in accordance with the 
principles of sustainable procurement and internal guidance which 
governs the engagement of suppliers. Suppliers are chosen not only 
subjecting to comprehensive screening and evaluation procedures on the 
quality and price but also field visits and investigations to ensure suppliers’ 
capability in quality assurance, safety and environmental responsibility. 
The investigation reviews all the measures related to production capacity, 
technology level, quality assurance capability, supply capacity, safety 
and environmental management qualifications, and social responsibility. 
Only highly qualified suppliers complied with regulatory requirements are 
eligible for the selection of supplier by the Group. The Group also conducts 
regular assessment on suppliers’ overall capabilities, assets position, nature 
of business, reputation in the industry, quality of products, goods delivery 
and compliance with laws and regulations. Furthermore, the selected 
suppliers are required to sign a set of agreements in which some of 
the terms cover the area related to integrity, confidentiality, quality and 
environmental protection.

The Group has obtained Quality Management System Certification 
(ISO9001) and Automotive Quality Management System (IATF16949) that 
are formulated by the International Organisation for Standardisation and 
International Automotive Task Force respectively. The Group emphasises 
defect prevention and reduction of variation and waste in the supply chain 
and strictly requires employees to comply with the quality management 
policies to provide continual improvement.

As customers are becoming more concerned about environmental issues 
and the importance of using environmentally friendly materials, the 
Group will continue to communicate and emphasise the importance of 
environmental issues to the suppliers. The Group aims at strengthening the 
cooperation with suppliers, collaborating with them in product trials and 
producing socially responsible products.

Each supplier and subcontractor would be reviewed after completion of 
their contracts. In case of major non-performance, the Group will review 
their suitability to remain on the approved supplier list.

The Group has compiled and adopted “Responsible Conflict Minerals 
Sourcing Policy” which required its suppliers to declare that the corporation 
has complied with the “Code of Conduct” established by the Responsible 
Business Alliance. The “Code of Conduct” outlines standards for labour, 
health and safety, environment, business ethics and management system 
with reference to international norms. Looking forward, the Group will 
continue to monitor its supply chain regarding the environmental and 
social standards and promote the sustainable development of the industry 
as a whole.

The number of critical suppliers of major direct materials by region during 
the Review Period is as follows:

ISO9001
IATF16949
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Figure 23: Number of critical suppliers
23

PRC Hong Kong Singapore Taiwan Macau United States

As at 31.12.2024 
2024 12 31 27 9 4 3 1 1

As at 31.12.2023 
2023 12 31 21 6 3 – 1 1

Product Responsibility
The Group is committed to pursuing product and service of high quality 
by setting up implementing stringent and comprehensive quality control 
procedures, and achieved the standard of Restriction of Hazardous 
Substances Directive 2002/95/EC. The Group has formulated quality 
control manual throughout the production processes from purchase of 
raw materials to product packaging. Raw materials are inspected to ensure 
the quality and in a good condition before proceeding to production to 
minimise possible disruptions during the operation.

Time Huizhou has obtained the ISO13485 Quality Management System 
– Medical Devices that consistently meets customer requirements and 
regulatory requirements applicable to medical devices and related services. 
Annual testing has been performed by the licensed third party to ensure 
Time Huizhou has complied with the relevant requirements.

The Group has developed guidelines to set out procedures for product 
recall and prevent misuse of defective product. There were no substantiated 
complaints received relating to the provision and use of products and 
services that have a significant impact on the Group’s operations. The 
number of defective products produced by the Group was minimal and 
complaints by customers in respect of defective products were insignificant.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right And Consumer 
Privacy
The Group recognises the importance of the protection over intellectual 
property right and consumer privacy. Proper licences for software and 
information are obtained by the Group before used in the business 
operation. Disciplinary action is taken immediately if use of unlicensed or 
infringed software occurs.

Meanwhile, the Group handles all information provided by clients, business 
partners and employees in accordance with non-disclosure agreement, 
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, related laws and regulations and internal 
guidelines of intellectual property and privacy to ensure the information is 
under proper protection.

Anti-corruption
The Group is committed to maintaining the integrity of the corporate 
culture. Employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any advantages. 
The Group sets out the relevant policies and guides the employees to abide 
by the code of conduct which provides a clear definition on the provision 
and acceptance of interests, such as gifts and souvenirs, and ways to deal 
with conflicts of interest.

2002/95/EC

ISO13485
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When joining the Group, employees are required to sign a Notice of 
Integrity Commitment which set out the prohibited conducts including 
misappropriation of assets, leaking of sensitive information, acceptance 
of interests; engaging in prohibited commercial activities, etc. to promote 
corporate integrity culture.

Directors and employees are also required to make a declaration to the 
management through the reporting channels when actual or potential 
conflicts of interest arise. Employees cannot receive any gifts from any 
external parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, contractors, etc.) unless prior 
approval is obtained from the management.

During the Review Period, the Group has participated in the Business Sector 
Integrity Charter (“BSIC”) (launched by The Independent Commission 
Against Corruption (“ICAC”) (See Figure 24). Participants is required 
to implement integrity policy in 10 core elements and continuously 
monitoring the effectiveness of integrity compliance management system. 
In additions, the Group has invited the ICAC to organise a training session 
on the prevention of corruption and business ethics for staff members 
at the headquarters (See Figure 25). The Group will continue to arrange 
training and development on regulatory compliance to enhance vigilance 
of senior management to the problem of corruption.

To show the unwavering commitment to anti-corruption, the Group has 
adopted an “Integrity and Honesty Management System”. Suppliers are 
required to sign an Undertaking of Integrity before entering contractual 
relationship. The Group also regularly delivers the message to all the 
suppliers to reiterate the integrity and honesty business philosophy and 
secure the alignment with the Group for fair procurement.

The Group has whistle-blowing procedures in effect, encouraging 
employees and all other stakeholders to report directly to the chairman of 
the Audit Committee about any misconduct and dishonest behaviour, such 
as bribery, fraud and other offences. Furthermore, it is specified in the staff 
handbook that the Group is entitled to terminate the employment contract 
with any employee who is bribed with money, gifts or commission, etc., 
and reserves the right to take further legal actions.

During the Review Period, the Group has complied with the relevant laws 
and regulations regarding anti-corruption and money-laundering and has 
no legal case regarding corrupted practices brought against the issuer or 
the employees.

Figure 24: Business Sector Integrity Charter
24

24 10

25

Figure 25: Anti-Corruption and Ethics Training
25
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Community Investment
The Group is committed to creating sustainable prosperity that brings 
long-term social and economic benefits to all stakeholders, particularly 
to maintain the relationship with interest groups which are relevant to 
business operation.

Over the years, the Group has been actively promoting strategic 
partnerships among business and social service partners such as the 
Community Chest of Hong Kong, Orbis and JCI Apex in various projects, 
encouraging employees to participate in external community activities and 
fostering corporate social responsibility through caring for the community, 
employees and the environment.

During the Review Period, the Group supported JCI Apex, as one of the 
corporate sponsors. The Group continued to participate in various charity 
activities, ” Skip Lunch Day 2024” and “World Sight Day 2024” of Orbis 
Hong Kong etc in order to create shared value for the community.

The Group has been granted the following awards from various parties as 
the recognition of the efforts in fulfilling social responsibility:

•	 The “Industry Cares 5+ Years” Award presented by the Federation of 
Hong Kong Industries (See Figure 26);

•	 The “BOCHK Corporate Low-Carbon Environmental Leadership 
Awards 2023” presented by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. 
(See Figure 27); and

•	 The “ESG Pledge” Scheme organised by The Chinese Manufacturers’ 
Association of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Brand Development 
Council (See Figure 28).

Figure 26: Industry Cares 5+ Years Figure 27: BOCHK Corporate  
Low-Carbon Environmental 
Leadership Awards 2023

Figure 28: ESG Pledge

26 5 + 27  
2023

28 ESG

2024
2024

• 5 +
26

• 
2023 27

• 
ESG 28
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UNITED NATIONS SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS
Recognising the importance of creating a culture of sustainability within 
the organisation, the Group has always been proactive in fulfilling its 
corporate social responsibility by identifying and creating opportunities to 
give back to society. The Group has integrated the sustainability strategies 
into the initiative of United Nations Sustainable Development Goals and 
identified 6 key SDGs that are most relevant to its business operations, and 
working with its non-profit partners to address the relevant issues.

6
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Goal Potential impact The Group’s status Future direction

    

40

17 ICONS: COLOUR VERSION

ICONS
ICONS

Do not alter the colours of the SDG icons.

Good Health and 
Well-being

• Provide and 
maintain a safe 
and healthy work 
environment

 

• Establish an 
effective workplace 
safety culture

 

• Promote healthy 
lifestyles

 

During the Review Period, the Group has sponsored 
the following programs of JCI Apex:

• “Active Aging: Embracing Happiness and 
Vitality” Seminar

 

• “Love Without Boundary-You’re Not Alone” 
activity series, included: ‘Emotional Exploration 
Room’ Seminar, ‘Mental Health VR Experience 
Day’, ‘International Mental Health Survey’ Press 
Conference (See Figure 29), among others

  – 
VR

29

The production facilities in the PRC have launched 
the following programs:

• “Diabetes Lifestyle Intervention” Training
 

• “Treatment and Prevention of Lumbar Muscle 
Strain” Training

 

• “Workplace Emotional Intelligence” Training
 

The headquarters has arranged employees to 
participate in the following wokshops:

• “Sleep Well, Feel Well: Improving Sleep Quality” 
Webinar

 

• “Take Care of Your Heart: Understanding 
Hypertension, Hyperlipidemia, and 
Hyperglycemia – Obesity and Cardiovascular 
Diseases” Webinar

  ~  

• “Zentangle for Stress Relief” Workshop
 

• “Art and Mind-Body-Spirit” Pastel Nagomi Art 
Workshop

 *

• “Laughter Yoga” Workshop (See Figure 30)
 30

Strengthen internal 
promotion on high 
standards of workplace 
health & safety, and 
support health-related 
projects of non-profit 
organisations
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Goal Potential impact The Group’s status Future direction

    

40

17 ICONS: COLOUR VERSION

ICONS
ICONS

Do not alter the colours of the SDG icons.

Quality Education

Offer training programs 
and/or other tuition fee 
subsidy to all employees 
and encourage lifelong 
learning

The Group advocates the culture of lifelong 
learning, and provides tuition fee subsidy for 
employees and scholarship program for all 
applicable employees’ children

Linkz Suzhou has launched a training workshop on 
Effective Execution

During the Review Period, the Group has sponsored 
the following programs of JCI Apex:

• “Coaching Workshop”
 

• “Leader Maker 2.0” Young Leaders 
Development Program activity series included 
‘Leadership Training’ (See Figure 31) ‘Training 
on ESG’, ‘Training on SDG’ and ‘SDG City 
Hunt’, among others

 Leader Maker 2.0  
31 ESG

SDG SDG

Encourage and support 
employees to improve 
their technical and 
vocational skills and 
professional knowledge, 
and provide training 
service support to 
nonprofit organisations

    

40

17 ICONS: COLOUR VERSION

ICONS
ICONS

Do not alter the colours of the SDG icons.

Decent Work and 
Economic Growth

Offer career 
opportunities and 
assist in the economic 
development of local 
communities

The Group has organised festive gatherings, Dragon 
Boat Festival Rice Dumpling Making program (See 
Figure 32, Mid-Autumn Festival Mooncake DIY 
Program (See Figure 33), and lucky draws, among 
others

32 DIY 33

During the Review Period, the Group has sponsored 
the following programs of JCI Apex:

• “Corporate Clinic ESG Activity Series”, 
including: ‘Corporate Visit: Foodpanda’ 
and seminars on ‘ESG Strategies and Green 
Finance’, ‘Corporate Development and Social 
Responsibility’, (See Figure 34) ‘Corporate 
Governance and Corporate Culture’, among 
others

 ESG
Foodpanda ESG

34

Provide employment and 
business opportunities 
to a wide range of 
stakeholders and indirect 
build wealth in local 
community
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Goal Potential impact The Group’s status Future direction

    

40

17 ICONS: COLOUR VERSION

ICONS
ICONS

Do not alter the colours of the SDG icons.

Responsible 
Consumption and 
Production

Ensure the sustainable 
use and management 
of resources

The Group has incorporated elements promoting 
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
in the Sports Fun Day. (See Figure 35)

FUN
35

During the Review Period, the Group has sponsored 
the following programs of JCI Apex:

• ESG Corporate Visit (School Uniform Fabric 
Antibacterial Coating Treatment Factory) (See 
Figure 36)

 ESG
36

Facilitate employee 
participation in the 
promotion of sustainable 
development through 
various means

    

40

17 ICONS: COLOUR VERSION

ICONS
ICONS

Do not alter the colours of the SDG icons.

Climate Action

Monitor and reduce 
the CO2 emissions 
generated from the 
use of resources and 
product manufacturing

During the Review Period, the Group has co-
organised the following visiting programs with JCI 
Apex:

• CLP Pulse (See Figure 37)
 37

• Nina Park (See Figure 38)
 38

Explore other means to 
contribute more to the 
environment and strive to 
facilitate the building of 
a healthy and sustainable 
society in the future

    

40

17 ICONS: COLOUR VERSION

ICONS
ICONS

Do not alter the colours of the SDG icons.

Partnerships for 
the goals

Partner with nonprofit 
organisations to 
contribute to the local 
community

The Group has established long-term strategic 
partnership with non-profit organisations to create 
shared value for the betterment of community

During the Review Period, the Group has 
participated in/sponsored the following programs:

• “Skip Lunch Day 2024” of the Community 
Chest of Hong Kong

 2024

• “Anti-Corruption and Ethics Training” of the 
Independent Commission Against Corruption

 

• “World Sight Day 2024” of the Orbis
 2024

• “Anti-Fraud Seminar” and “The Greater Bay 
Area Anti-Fraud Slogan Design Contest” of the 
“Apexperiment – Scammers and Where To Find 
Them” program of JCI Apex (See Figure 39)

  
39

Extend and deepen 
partnerships with non-
profit organizations and 
identify more community 
investment projects that 
create shared value
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Figure 29: International Mental Health Survey Press 
Conference

29

Figure 30: Laughter Yoga Workshop

30

Figure 31: Leadership Training

31

Figure 32: Dragon Boat Festival Rice Dumpling 
Making Program

32

Figure 33: Mid-Autumn Festival Mooncake DIY 
Program

33 DIY

Figure 34: Seminar on Corporate Development and 
Social Responsibility

34
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Figure 39: “Apexperiment – Scammers and Where To 
Find Them

39

Figure 38: Nina Park

38

Figure 36: ESG Corporate Visit
36 ESG

Figure 37 CLP Pulse
37

Figure 35: Sports Fun Day
35 FUN



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONT‘D)

92 匯聚科技有限公司 TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Environmental performance indicators

Aspect A1: Emissions
A1

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

Stock Exchange 
ESG Reporting 

Code KPI

Performance indicator

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

     

Emissions
Total NOx emissions (kg) 39.366 30.259 A1.1
Total SOx emissions (kg) 1.101 0.711 A1.1
Total PM emissions (kg) 2.371 1.865 A1.1
Total GHG emissions – Scope 1 (kg)  – 1 191,729 122,265 A1.2
Total GHG emissions – Scope 2 (kg)  – 2 45,480,951 28,673,747 A1.2
Total GHG emissions – Scope 3 (kg)  – 3 223,088 124,450 A1.2
     

Hazardous waste
Mineral oil contaminated waste rags, 

organic solvents contaminated waste 
rags, used containers for chemical 
materials, wire-drawing lubricants and 
waste batteries (kg)

 
 

30,246 16,462 A1.3
     

Non-hazardous waste
Industrial wastes

Metal, iron, plastic, waste wires, etc 
(kg)

 
1,461,808 1,095,135 A1.4

Waste woven bags and pallets (kg) 15,644 37,159 A1.4
Cardboards (kg) 142,283 144,383 A1.4
Used A3 and A4 papers (kg) A3 A4 12,207 7,684 A1.4
Used toner cartridges (kg) 2,139 1,671 A1.4
Used paper towels (kg) 9,411 6,255 A1.4
     

Aspect A2: Use of resources
A2

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

Stock Exchange 
ESG Reporting 

Code KPI

Performance indicator

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

     

Type of electricity consumption
Non-renewable fuel (kWh) 1,211,499 828,215 A2.1
Renewable energy (kWh) 4,289,514 3,529,817 A2.1
Purchase of energy (kWh) 59,038,625 36,816,381 A2.1
     

Water consumption
Region

– PRC (cubic metres) – 580,822 315,011 A2.2
– HK (cubic metres) – 68 41 A2.2
– Mexico (cubic metres) – 375 – A2.2
– Japan (cubic metres) – 598 – A2.2

     

Packaging materials
Total packaging materials (kg) 4,373,458 2,740,951 A2.5
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Social performance indicators

Aspect B1: Employment
B1

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

Stock Exchange 
ESG Reporting 

Code KPI

Performance indicator

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

     

Number of employees as at 31.12 12 31
Gender:

– Male – 2,674 2,297 B1.1
– Female – 3,357 3,089 B1.1

Age
– < 30 – 30 2,487 2,149 B1.1
– 30 – 50 – 30 50 3,379 3,099 B1.1
– > 50 – 50 165 138 B1.1

Region
– PRC – 5,891 5,330 B1.1
– HK – 49 46 B1.1
– Overseas – 91 10 B1.1

     

Employee turnover
8.0% 5.8% B1.2

     

Aspect B2: Health and safety
B2

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

Stock Exchange 
ESG Reporting 

Code KPI

Performance indicator

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

     

Number of work injuries 14 5 B2.1
Rate of work injury (per thousand 

employees) 2.32 0.9 B2.1
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Aspect B3: Development and training
B3

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

Stock Exchange 
ESG Reporting 

Code KPI

Performance indicator

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

     

Percentage of employees trained
Gender

– Male – 46% 46% B3.1
– Female – 54% 54% B3.1

Employee category
– Managers or above – 3% 3% B3.1
– Supervisors and general staff – 11% 12% B3.1
– Workers – 86% 85% B3.1

     

Average training hours completed 
per employee

Gender
– Male – 29 27 B3.2
– Female – 30 25 B3.2

Employee category
– Managers or above – 20 30 B3.2
– Supervisors and general staff – 33 30 B3.2
– Workers – 30 25 B3.2

     

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
B5

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months
ended

31.12.2023

Stock Exchange 
ESG Reporting 

Code KPI

Performance indicator

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

     

Number of critical suppliers by 
geographical region

By region
– PRC – 27 21 B5.1
– Hong Kong – 9 6 B5.1
– Singapore – 4 3 B5.1
– Taiwan – 3 – B5.1
– Macau – 1 1 B5.1
– United States – 1 1 B5.1
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Time Interconnect 
Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) 
set out on pages 99 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy 
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of 
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have 
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing 
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the 
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of 
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

99
171

2024 12 31

 2024 12 31

 

852 2218 8288
852 2815 2239

852 2218 8288
852 2815 2239
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
  

Valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment 
measured at revaluation model

We identified the valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and 
equipment measured at revaluation model as a key audit matter due to the 
inherent level of subjective judgements and complex estimates required in 
determining the revalued amounts.

The Group’s leasehold land (included under right-of-use assets) and buildings 
(included under property, plant and equipment) located in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “Land and Buildings”) are accounted for using revaluation model. 
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s Land and Buildings 
under revaluation model are HK$232,135,000 (included in right-of-use assets) and 
HK$240,142,000 (included under property, plant and equipment) respectively, 
which represented 5% and 5% of the Group’s total assets, respectively. The 
resulting net revaluation loss of HK$19,084,000, comprising the revaluation gain 
of HK$2,417,000 arising from property, plant and equipment and revaluation loss 
of HK$21,501,000 arising from right-of-use assets, has been debited to the other 
comprehensive income and the resulting net revaluation loss of HK$11,877,000, 
comprising the revaluation loss of HK$1,257,000 arising from property, plant and 
equipment and revaluation loss of HK$10,620,000 arising from right-of-use assets, 
has been debited to the profit and loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As further disclosed in notes 4, 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements, 
in estimating the fair value of these Land and Buildings, the Group engaged 
an independent qualified valuer (the “Valuer”), to carry out the valuation. The 
management of the Group provided information to the Valuer and the Valuer 
established and determined the appropriate technique and inputs to the valuation 
model. The significant unobservable input of the approach is the adjusted price 
per square metre of comparable properties. Changes in the comparable properties 
adopted may result in a significant increase or decrease in fair value.

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of the Land and 
Buildings at measured revaluation model included:

•	 evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity of the Valuer;

•	 obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about the valuation methodology, 
significant unobservable inputs and data used in the valuations;

•	 assessing the reasonableness of the price per square metre of comparable 
properties and information used by the Valuer and management of the 
Group in the valuation model, including adjustment factors for locations and 
conditions of the properties, in order to assess the appropriateness of these 
inputs and comparing the comparable properties adopted with fair market 
unit price; and

•	 checking the mathematical accuracy of the valuation calculations.

2024 12 31  

232,135,000 240,142,000
 

5% 5% 2024 12 31
2,417,000

21,501,000
19,084,000

1,257,000
10,620,000 11,877,000

4 15 16
 

 

• 

• 

•  

• 
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not 
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible 
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility 
in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our 
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 

 

 

 

 

 

• 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the 
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the work performed 
for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee regarding with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 
of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Lau Kin Tat, Terry
Practising Certificate no.: P07676

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months 
ended 

31.12.2023
2024

12 31
2023

12 31

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 6 7,388,751 4,826,252
Cost of goods sold (6,310,137) (4,146,343)

  

Gross profit 1,078,614 679,909
Other income 7 41,266 50,450
Other gains and losses 8 10,952 (28,620)
Loss on revaluation of property, plants and equipment, 

and right-of-use assets, net
 

15 (11,877) (2,389)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss (“ECL”) on 

trade receivables  
10 (643) (1,331)

Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a subsidiary  
40 397 –

Distribution and selling expenses (76,564) (48,114)
Administrative expenses (197,073) (123,208)
Professional fees and costs relating to acquisition of 

business 
 

(2,522) –
Research and development expenses (232,928) (95,655)
Share results of associates, net (648) –
Finance costs 9 (73,243) (88,579)

  

Profit before taxation 10 535,731 342,463
Taxation 12 (85,230) (64,856)

  

Profit for the year/period 450,501 277,607
  

Other comprehensive income (expense)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

(Loss) gain on revaluation of right-of-use assets and 
property, plant and equipment (19,084) 10,198

Deferred tax arising from revaluation of right-of–use 
assets and property, plant and equipment 4,875 (2,553)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss:

 

Realisation of exchange reserve upon deregistration of 
subsidiaries (27) –

Exchange differences arising on translating financial 
statements of foreign operations

 
(44,518) (55,185)

  

Other comprehensive expense for the year/period (58,754) (47,540)
  

Total comprehensive income for the year/period 391,747 230,067
  

Profit for the year/period attributable to:
Owners of the Company 450,872 277,144
Non-controlling interests (371) 463

  

450,501 277,607
  

Total comprehensive income for the year/period 
attributable to:

 

Owners of the Company 392,402 229,962
Non-controlling interests (655) 105

  

391,747 230,067
  

Earnings per share 13
– Basic (HK cents) – 23.16 14.24
– Diluted (HK cents) – 22.66 14.24
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31.12.2024 31.12.2023
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 920,146 872,553
Right-of-use assets 16 281,139 332,100
Intangible assets 17 458 –
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment 29,707 11,175
Associates 18 10,685 –
Rental deposits 2,537 2,167

  

1,244,672 1,217,995
  

Current assets
Inventories 19 1,391,133 1,310,287
Derivative financial instrument 10,231 –
Trade and other receivables 20 1,761,688 2,313,745
Contract assets 21 66,560 20,279
Taxation recoverable 3,674 4,239
Pledged bank deposits 22 124,403 957,902
Bank balances and cash 22 425,848 338,013

  

3,783,537 4,944,465
  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 1,592,123 1,635,023
Contract liabilities 24 76,656 30,557
Amounts due to related companies 27 13,022 6,215
Lease liabilities 25 19,441 23,083
Taxation payable 48,250 36,448
Bank borrowings 26 237,525 1,166,575
Loans from related companies 27 1,147,472 1,172,042
Derivative financial instrument – 5,088

  

3,134,489 4,075,031
  

Net current assets 649,048 869,434
  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,893,720 2,087,429
  

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 25 36,921 41,934
Bank borrowings 26 5,634 80,000
Loans from related companies 27 – 499,034
Deferred tax liabilities 28 71,670 91,757
Long service payment obligation 29 447 1,693

  

114,672 714,418
  

Net assets 1,779,048 1,373,011
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 30 19,487 19,460
Reserves 1,746,665 1,341,728

  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,766,152 1,361,188
Non-controlling interests 12,896 11,823

  

Total equity 1,779,048 1,373,011
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 171 were approved and 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and are signed 
on its behalf by:

Cua Tin Yin Simon Wong Chi Kuen

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

99 171 2025 3 28



101

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 2024 12 31

年度報告 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

Attributable to owners of the Company

 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

PRC 
statutory 
reserves

Special 
reserves

Capital 
reserve

Property 
revaluation 

reserve

Share 
options 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
profits Total

Non- 
controlling 

interests
Total  

equity
    

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
a b c

 

 
            

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 19,460 323,485 113,021 (642,546) 44,584 224,241 16,554 (14,474) 1,276,863 1,361,188 11,823 1,373,011
            

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 450,872 450,872 (371) 450,501
Loss on revaluation of right-of-use 

assets and property, plant and 
equipment

 

– – – – – (18,923) – – – (18,923) (161) (19,084)
Deferred tax arising from revaluation 

of right-of-use assets and property, 
plant and equipment

 

– – – – – 4,835 – – – 4,835 40 4,875
Exchange differences arising on 

translating financial statements of 
foreign operations

 

– – – – – – – (44,355) – (44,355) (163) (44,518)
Realisation of exchange reserve upon 

deregistration of subsidiaries – – – – – – – (27) – (27) – (27)
            

Total comprehensive income (expense) 
for the year – – – – – (14,088) – (44,382) 450,872 392,402 (655) 391,747

            

Transfer – – 29,225 – – – – – (29,225) – – –
Dividends declared (note 14) 14 – – – – – – – – (33,092) (33,092) – (33,092)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40) 40 – – – – – – – – – – 1,728 1,728
Share options forfeited and transferred 

to accumulated profits – – – – – – (106) – 106 – – –
Exercise of share options 27 6,222 – – – – (2,045) – – 4,204 – 4,204
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payment (note 31)
 

31 – – – – 9,099 – 32,351 – – 41,450 – 41,450
            

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 19,487 329,707 142,246 (642,546) 53,683 210,153 46,754 (58,856) 1,665,524 1,766,152 12,896 1,779,048
            

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 19,460 323,485 85,374 (642,546) 37,939 216,680 – 40,269 1,051,691 1,132,352 11,718 1,144,070
            

Profit for the period – – – – – – – – 277,144 277,144 463 277,607
Gain (loss) on revaluation of right-of-

use assets and property, plant and 
equipment

 

– – – – – 10,086 – – – 10,086 112 10,198
Deferred tax arising from revaluation 

of right-of-use assets and property, 
plant and equipment

 

– – – – – (2,525) – – – (2,525) (28) (2,553)
Exchange differences arising on 

translating financial statements of 
foreign operations

 

– – – – – – – (54,743) – (54,743) (442) (55,185)
            

Total comprehensive income (expense) 
for the period – – – – – 7,561 – (54,743) 277,144 229,962 105 230,067

            

Transfer – – 27,647 – – – – – (27,647) – – –
Dividends declared (note 14) 14 – – – – – – – – (24,325) (24,325) – (24,325)
Recognition of equity-settled share-

based payment (note 31)
 

31 – – – – 6,645 – 16,554 – – 23,199 – 23,199
            

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 19,460 323,485 113,021 (642,546) 44,584 224,241 16,554 (14,474) 1,276,863 1,361,188 11,823 1,373,011
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Notes:

(a)	 The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory reserves are non-distributable and the 
transfer to these reserves are determined according to the relevant laws in the PRC and by 
the board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with the articles of association 
of these subsidiaries. They can be used to make up for previous years’ losses or convert into 
additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company.

(b)	 The special reserves represent (i) the amounts arising from group reorganisations in 2017 
and 2020 by using merger accounting and (ii) the effects of changes in ownership in certain 
subsidiaries when there is no change in control.

(c)	 The amounts represent (i) deemed capital contribution arising from waiver of current 
accounts by the group companies in prior years, (ii) deemed capital contribution arising 
from the cash reimbursed for partial listing expenses by the then ultimate holding company 
upon public offer and placing.

(a) 

(b) (i) 2017 2020
(ii)

(c) (i)
(ii)
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Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months 
ended 

31.12.2023
2024

12 31
2023

12 31

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 535,731 342,463
Adjustments for:

Interest income 7 (21,338) (42,764)
Interest expense 9 73,243 88,579
Impairment losses under ECL on trade 

receivables
 

643 1,331
Net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of 

derivate financial instrument
 

8 (17,669) 5,177
Loss on change in fair value of financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss 8 – 114
Loss on revaluation of property, plant and 

equipment and right-of use assets, net
 

11,877 2,389
Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary 40 (397) –
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 8 (142) –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 8 3,310 1,424
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 10 71,847 54,020
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10 29,680 19,789
Amortisation of intangible assets 10 48 –
Write-down of inventories 10 13,349 21,648
Share of results of associates 18 648 –
Equity-settled share-based payments 31 41,450 23,199

  

Operating cash flows before movements in 
working capital 742,280 517,369

(Increase) decrease in inventories (114,933) 662,458
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 

and rental deposits
 

525,055 (824,993)
Increase in contract assets (46,281) (15,696)
(Decrease) increase in long service payment 

obligation (1,246) 1,693
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables (16,931) 685,974
Increase in contract liabilities 47,261 28,899

  

Cash generated from operations 1,135,205 1,055,704
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (9,410) (5,584)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (77,807) (30,090)

  

Net cash generated from operating activities 1,047,988 1,020,030
  

Investing activities
Placement of pledged bank deposits (146,231) (943,535)
Release of pledged bank deposits 952,918 974,739
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (153,270) (71,088)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment
 

20,817 1,292
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss
 

– 6,447
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment
 

(26,428) (9,407)
Acquisition of business 467 –
Investment in associates (11,394) –
Interest received 36,548 27,554

  

Net cash generated from (used in) investing 
activities 673,427 (13,998)
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Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months 
ended 

31.12.2023
2024

12 31
2023

12 31

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Financing activities
Loans raised from related companies 2,331,874 2,090,871
Repayment of loans from related companies (2,852,378) (2,363,705)
Advances from related companies 13,370 5,851
Repayment of advances from related companies (6,154) (499,220)
Bank borrowings raised 255,858 1,207,450
Repayment of bank borrowings (1,253,534) (1,315,768)
Net proceeds from issuance of new shares 4,204 –
Interest paid (69,168) (66,211)
Dividends paid (47,687) (9,730)
Payment of lease liabilities (23,121) (17,122)

  

Net cash used in financing activities (1,646,736) (967,584)
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 74,679 38,448
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 

year/period 338,013 288,003
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash 

and cash equivalents 13,156 11,562
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year/
period 425,848 338,013

  

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash 425,848 338,013
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Time Interconnect Technology Limited (the “Company”) is a limited company 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on Main Board of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HK Stock Exchange”). The 
addresses of the registered office and the principal place of business of the 
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of the annual 
report.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Luxshare Precision Limited. 
The Company’s intermediate holding company is Luxshare Precision Industry 
Co., Ltd. (“Luxshare”), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of 
China (the “PRC”) with its shares listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate controlling 
shareholder of Luxshare and the Company is Luxshare Limited, a company 
incorporated in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of 
its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

2.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1	Amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) that are mandatorily effective for the current period
In the current period, the Group has applied the following amendments to 
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the 
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or  
Non-current and related amendments to 
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendment to HK Int 5 
(revised)

Presentation of Financial Statements – 
Classification by borrower of a Term Loan 
that Contains a Repayment on Demand 
Clause

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had 
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance 
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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匯聚科技有限公司 TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

2.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2	New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to 
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 21 and 
HKFRS 1

Lack of Exchangeability1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Classification and Measurement of 
Financial Instruments2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7

Contract Referencing Nature-dependent 
Electricity2

Amendments to HKFRS 1, 
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 
10 and HKAS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards (Volume 11)2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial 
Statements3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 
Disclosures3

Amendments to HK Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements-
Classification by the Borrower of a 
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment 
on Demand Clause3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture4

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the 
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new 
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the financial 
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification 
and Measurement of Financial Instruments (2026) provide guidance on a 
number of areas such as the derecognition of financial liabilities settled 
through an electronic payment system, classification of financial assets 
with Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) and similar features, 
contractually linked instruments and certain new disclosure requirements.
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2.	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2	New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective 
(continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements 

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, 
introducing new requirements that will help to achieve comparability of 
the financial performance of similar entities and provide more relevant 
information and transparency to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not 
impact the recognition or measurement of items in the financial statements, 
its impacts on presentation and disclosures are expected to be pervasive, 
in particular those related to the statement of financial performance and 
providing management-defined performance measures within the financial 
statements. Management is currently assessing the detailed implications of 
applying the new standard on the Group’s financial statements. Based on 
preliminary assessment, the line items presented in the primary financial 
statements might change as a result of the application of the concept of 
“useful structured summary” and the enhanced principles on aggregation 
and disaggregation. The Group does not expect there to be a significant 
change in the information that is currently disclosed in the notes because 
the requirement to disclose material information remains unchanged; 
however, the way in which the information is grouped might change as a 
result of the aggregation/disaggregation principles. Moreover, there will be 
significant new disclosures required for management-defined performance 
measures. HKFRS 18 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2027. Retrospective application is required and so the comparative 
information for the financial year ending 31 December 2026 will be restated 
in the accordance with HKFRS 18.

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1	Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such 
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary 
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable 
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
HK Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

Change of financial year end date
Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 24 July 2023, the financial year 
end date of the Company has been changed from 31 March to 31 December 
commencing from the financial period ended 31 December 2023 in order 
to align the financial year end date with that of its intermediate holding 
company; and the principal operating subsidiaries of the Company, which 
are statutorily required to fix their financial year end date at 31 December 
in the PRC. The comparative figures presented for the audited consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, audited 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and audited consolidated 
statement of cash flows and related notes cover the audited figures of the 
financial period from 1 April 2023 to 31 December 2023 which may not be 
comparable with the amounts shown for the current year.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1	Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and leasehold 
land and buildings, which are measured at fair values and revalued amounts, 
at the end of the reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if the market participants would take 
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
in the consolidated financial statements is determined on such basis, except 
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope 
of HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to 
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a 
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset 
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For leasehold land and building measured at revalued amounts, which are 
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs 
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation 
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the 
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are 
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs 
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as 
follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements 
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. 
Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and 
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three 
elements of control listed above.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business 
combinations using the acquisition method. The Group accounts for 
business combinations under the acquisition method when the acquired 
set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control 
is transferred to the Group. In the statement of financial position, the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are 
initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. Any excess 
of the Group’s interest in the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities acquired over the cost of a business combination is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as 
incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over 
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. 
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control 
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Non-controlling interests are initially measured at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets or at fair value at the date of acquisition. The 
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction 
basis. Subsequent to acquisition, profit or loss and each item of other 
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the 
Group’s equity therein, which represent a proportionate share of net assets 
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Associates
Where the Group has the power to participate in (but not control) the 
financial and operating policy decisions of another entity, it is classified as an 
associate. Associates are initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost. Subsequently, associates are accounted for 
using the equity method, where the Group's share of post-acquisition 
profits and losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income 
(except for losses in excess of the Group's investment in the associate unless 
there is an obligation to make good those losses).

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group's 
share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired 
is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where 
there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been 
impaired the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in 
the same way as other non-financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation 
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the 
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of 
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that 
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by 
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant 
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

•	 the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits 
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

•	 the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the 
customer controls as the Group performs; or

•	 the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative 
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer 
obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A point in time revenue recognition
The revenue of the Group is recognised at a point in time except for 
revenue from certain sales, which are recognised over time. Under the 
transfer-of-control approach in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers”, revenue from certain sales of goods to the Group’s customers 
in connection with the production of cable assembly, digital cable and 
server products are recognised when the goods are physically passed to the 
customers, which is the point in time when the goods have been delivered 
or shipped to customers’ specified location and the customer has the ability 
to direct the use of the goods and obtain substantially all of the remaining 
benefits of the goods upon customer acceptance. For the resales of server 
related components that the Group acting as agent, commission income 
is recognised at a point in time when the Group completes it performance 
obligation when the goods are physically passed to customers.

Over time revenue recognition
For certain sales of goods to the Group’s customers in connection with 
the production of cable assembly products, revenue is recognised overtime 
when the performance does not create an asset with an alternative use 
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to date based on contract terms. The progress 
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured 
based on input method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the 
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation 
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance 
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control 
of goods or services.

Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, 
the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance 
obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is 
a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the 
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

For resale of server components, the Group did not control those goods 
before they were transferred to a customer. The Group is primarily 
responsible to arrange for the provision of the goods by another party and 
does not have the discretion in setting the price. In this case, the Group 
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it 
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods to 
be provided by the other party.

Contract balances
A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange 
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not 
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment on the same basis as trade 
receivables. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional 
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before 
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or 
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or 
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are 
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, 
transactions in foreign currencies are recorded in the respective functional 
currency at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. 
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on 
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the 
assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into HK$ using 
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and 
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve 
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs
Payments to government-managed retirement benefits schemes and the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount 
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the 
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense 
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the 
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages 
and salaries) after deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees by the Company
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing 
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the date of grant.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)

Share options granted to employees by the Company (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing 
similar services are measured of the fair value of the equity instrument at 
the date of grant.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at 
the date of grant without taking into consideration all non-market vesting 
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually 
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the 
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number 
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant 
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original 
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to 
the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in 
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share 
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the 
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve will 
be transferred to accumulated profits.

Share options granted to employees by parent
When a parent grants rights to its equity instruments directly to the 
employees of the Group, where the parent has the obligation to provide 
the employees with the equity instruments and the Group does not have 
an obligation to provide its parent’s equity instruments to the employees, 
the Group shall measure the services received from its employees as equity-
settled share-based payment transactions and recognise an expense, and 
recognise a corresponding increase in equity (i.e. capital reserve) as a 
contribution from the parent.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and 
deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except 
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax 
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 
respectively.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable 
profit differs from profit before taxation because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences and 
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which those deductible temporary differences and unused 
tax losses can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination, affects neither 
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary difference.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise 
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset 
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which 
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, 
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to 
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the 
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax 
asset related to lease liability to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can 
be utilised and a deferred tax liability on all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by 
the same taxation authority.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. 
Property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress and 
buildings as described below are stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which 
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost 
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs 
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction 
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and 
equipment when completed and ready for use.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties 
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire 
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building 
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the 
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest 
in leasehold land is included in “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot be allocated 
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the 
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property, 
plant and equipment.

Buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
or for administrative purpose, are stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at fair value at the date of the revaluation less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined 
using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve, 
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognise in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited 
to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease 
in net carrying amount arising on revaluation is recognised in profit or loss 
to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation 
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent 
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is 
transferred to accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets 
(other than construction in progress) less their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method or reducing balance 
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued 
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of 
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial 
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the Group 
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition 
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as 
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and 
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional 
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the 
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease 
component and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of 
staff quarters and office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or 
less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. 
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost except for leasehold land 
which is measured under revaluation model as described below, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease 
term.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less 
any lease incentives received;

•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

•	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and 
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located 
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms 
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce 
inventories.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of right-of-use asset is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property 
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 
decrease of the same asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in which 
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation 
of right-of-use asset is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it 
exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation reserve relating to 
a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement 
of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to 
accumulated profits.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures 
the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at 
that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group 
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date. 
The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest 
accretion and lease payments. The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and 
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever the lease term has changed in which case the related lease 
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance 
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that 
the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation 
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 
Such grants are presented under “other income”.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities 
(or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and 
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will 
be available for use or sale;

•	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

•	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

•	 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic 
benefits;

•	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

•	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 
intangible asset during its development.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, 
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which it is incurred.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, 
intangible assets and associates
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts 
of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets 
and associates to determine whether there is any indication that these 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, 
intangible assets and associates (continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use 
assets, intangible assets and associates are estimated individually. When it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are 
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit based on a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation established, or otherwise they are allocated 
to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units 
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying 
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated 
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a 
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, which comprises of cash on hand 
and demand deposits and cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three months or less), highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash 
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
calculated using the first-in, first-out method for cable assembly and digital 
cable segment and weighted average method for server segment. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly 
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must 
incur to make the sale.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried of costs less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful live and amortisation 
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible assets is derecognised on disposal, or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains and losses 
arising from derecognition of an intangible assets, measured as the different 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, 
are recognised in profit and loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.  

3.2 
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value 
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which 
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value though profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the 
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Translation costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The financial asset that is held within a business model whose objective 
is to collect contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL. Financial 
assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The 
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any interest earned on 
the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost
The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial 
assets which are measured at amortised cost. The amount of ECL is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on 
these assets is assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on 
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since 
initial recognition.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)

(i)	 Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers 
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when 
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial 
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, 
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 
swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or 
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating 
results of the debtor; and

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, 
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results 
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group 
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to 
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and 
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes 
past due.

(ii)	 Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of 
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from 
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 
including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group 
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a 
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

3.  
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost (continued)

(iii)	 Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default 
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons 
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the 
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider; or

(d)	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation.

(iv)	 Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information 
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the 
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the 
amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any 
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)	 Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss 
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and 
the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking 
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default 
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case 
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial 
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for 
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the 
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is 
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2	Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments 
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank borrowings, 
amounts due to related companies and loans from related companies 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method. Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the 
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the 
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability
A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount 
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL 
ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described 
in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations 
(see below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

3.  
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4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL 
ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tax in respect of temporary differences attributable to the 
undistributed profits of subsidiaries in the PRC
As disclosed in note 27, as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, 
no deferred tax has been provided for the undistributed profits in the 
PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$956,332,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$674,558,000) as the Group is in a position to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)
As disclosed in note 3.2, the Group is considered as an agent for its contracts 
with customers relating to the reselling of certain server related products. During 
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised commission income 
from resales of the server related components amounted to HK$12,829,000.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, is described below.

Valuation of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment 
measured at revaluation model
The Group’s leasehold land included under right-of-use assets and buildings 
included under property, plant and equipment (the “Land and Buildings”) are 
accounted for using revaluation model at the end of the reporting period.

The management of the Group works closely with the independent firm of 
qualified professional property valuer to establish and determine the appropriate 
valuation techniques and key inputs for fair value measurements. Where there is 
a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the fluctuations 
will be reported to the management of the Group. Information about the 
valuation techniques and key inputs used in determining the fair value of the 
Group’s Land and Buildings is disclosed in note 15.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
The management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade 
receivables based on individual assessment, after considering the financial 
background and the historical settlement records, including the past due dates 
and default rates of each trade receivable. Estimated loss rates are based on 
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are 
adjusted for forward-looking information. At every reporting date, the default 
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are 
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about 
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 38.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade receivables is 
HK$1,457,419,000 (31 December 2023: HK$2,121,540,000), net of impairment 
losses under ECL of HK$5,305,000 (31 December 2023: HK$4,662,000). Details 
of trade receivables are set out in note 20.
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4.	 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY AND CRITICAL 
ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Assessment of the net realisable value of inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable values. The 
management of the Group is required to exercise judgement in estimating the 
net realisable value with reference to the ageing analysis of inventories and 
recent or subsequent usages or sales of inventories. Where the expectation on 
net realisable value is lower than the cost for certain items, a write down of 
inventories may arise.

The carrying amount of inventories is HK$1,391,133,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$1,310,287,000) as at 31 December 2024. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, obsolete inventories of HK$2,209,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$2,300,000) are written off.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The management of the Group determines the estimated useful lives and 
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment as disclosed 
in note 15. These estimates are based on the historical experience of the actual 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.

The management of the Group will increase the depreciation charge where 
useful lives are expected to be shorter than estimated, or it will write-off or 
write-down obsolete assets that have been abandoned or sold. Change in these 
estimations may have a material impact on the results of the Group.

5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating segments to be 
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that 
are regularly reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order 
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1.	 Cable assembly

2.	 Digital cable

3.	 Server

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under HKFRS 
8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated financial statements. 
Information reported to the Group’s chief executive officer, being the CODM, for 
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment performance 
focuses on types of goods delivered.

Principal activities of the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

Cable assembly – manufacturing and trading of cable assembly 
products,  electronic medical instruments and other 
medical equipment and devices

Digital cable – manufacturing and trading of networking cable and 
specialty cable products

Server – manufacturing and trading of server products

These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its operating segment 
information.
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5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment without allocation 
of results attributable to other income, finance costs and unallocated expenses. 
There were asymmetrical allocations to operating segments because the Group 
allocates the pledged bank deposits and bank balances without allocating the 
related interest income to those segments. This is the measure reported to the 
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

(a)	 Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating 
and reportable segments for the year/period:

Cable 
assembly

Digital  
cable Server

Total 
reportable 
segments Eliminations Total

 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        
For the year ended  

31 December 2024
2024 12 31

Segment revenue
External sales 2,783,805 1,416,855 3,188,091 7,388,751 – 7,388,751
Inter-segment sales 1,332 27,470 161 28,963 (28,963) –

      

2,785,137 1,444,325 3,188,252 7,417,714 (28,963) 7,388,751
      

Segment results 531,679 50,879 16,935 599,493 – 599,493
Unallocated finance costs (73,243)
Unallocated income 21,338
Unallocated expenses (11,209)
Share of results of  

associates, net
 

(648)
 

Profit before taxation 535,731
 

For the nine months ended 
31 December 2023

2023 12 31

Segment revenue
External sales 1,729,198 865,682 2,231,372 4,826,252 – 4,826,252
Inter-segment sales 16 18,075 986 19,077 (19,077) –

      

1,729,214 883,757 2,232,358 4,845,329 (19,077) 4,826,252
      

Segment results 237,320 27,498 145,687 410,505 – 410,505
Unallocated finance costs (88,579)
Unallocated income 42,764
Unallocated expenses (22,227)

 

Profit before taxation 342,463
 

5. 

(a) 



126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT‘D)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 2024 12 31

匯聚科技有限公司 TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Segment assets and liabilities
An analysis of the Group’s segment assets and segment liabilities by 
reportable and operating segments is as follows:

Cable 
assembly

Digital 
cable Server Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Assets

Reportable segment assets 1,732,708 1,564,249 1,698,029 4,994,986
Associates 10,685
Unallocated assets 22,538 

Consolidated total assets 5,028,209 
Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities 662,587 336,784 855,322 1,854,693
Unallocated bank borrowings 243,159
Unallocated loans from related 

companies
 

1,147,472
Unallocated liabilities 3,837 

Consolidated total liabilities 3,249,161 

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Assets

Reportable segment assets 1,648,358 1,378,068 3,121,036 6,147,462
Unallocated assets 14,998 

Consolidated total assets 6,162,460 
Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities 672,256 312,983 859,983 1,845,222
Unallocated bank borrowings 1,246,575
Unallocated loans from related 

companies
 

1,671,076
Unallocated liabilities 26,576 

Consolidated total liabilities 4,789,449
 

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating 
resources between segments:

•	 all assets are allocated to operating segments other than associates, 
certain other receivables, derivative financial assets, bank balances and 
cash and other unallocated assets; and

•	 all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain 
derivative financial liabilities, bank borrowings, loans from related 
companies, other payables and other unallocated liabilities.

5. 

(b) 

• 

• 
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5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Other information
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or segment assets.

Cable 
assembly

Digital  
cable Server Unallocated Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       
For the year ended  

31 December 2024
2024 12  

31
Capital additions 100,469 74,635 21,935 11,394 208,433
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment
 

27,232 29,500 14,237 878 71,847
Depreciation of right-of–

use assets 16,063 3,289 7,727 2,601 29,680
Amortisation of intangible 

assets 48 – – – 48
Loss on disposal and 

written off of property, 
plant and equipment

 
607 2,337 366 – 3,310

Impairment losses under 
ECL on trade receivables

 
 

4 (75) 714 – 643
Write-down of inventories 9,238 1,017 3,094 – 13,349
Income tax 77,667 5,591 1,972 – 85,230

     

For the nine months ended 
31 December 2023

2023 12  
31

Capital additions 74,768 12,784 6,457 32 94,041
Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment 19,324 23,835 10,215 646 54,020
Depreciation of right-of–

use assets 8,656 3,350 5,832 1,951 19,789
Loss on disposal and 

written off of property, 
plant and equipment

 
258 1,166 – – 1,424

Impairment losses under 
ECL on trade receivables

 
 

724 706 (99) – 1,331
Write-down of inventories 6,188 1,038 14,422 – 21,648
Income tax 30,711 3,895 30,250 – 64,856

     

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers presented 
based on the geographical location of the customers is as follows:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Mainland China 4,186,333 3,272,664
The United States of America 1,538,664 836,618
Singapore 862,282 254,080
Netherlands 220,839 121,852
Hong Kong 139,170 93,793
Mexico 108,106 77,074
United Kingdom 42,978 16,905
Others 290,379 153,266

  

7,388,751 4,826,252
  

5. 

(c) 
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5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Other information (continued)

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding rental 
deposits) is presented based on the geographical location of the assets:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Mainland China 1,158,486 1,187,688
Hong Kong 32,013 24,462
Japan 1,553 –
Mexico 39,398 3,678
Others 10,685 –

  

1,242,135 1,215,828
  

Information about major customers
Revenues from customers of the corresponding reporting year/period 
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Customer A (from server segment) A 1,305,134 612,967
Customer B (from cable assembly 

segment)
B

1,101,591 787,845
Customer C (from cable assembly 

and server segment)
C

1,004,300 793,877
  

6.	 REVENUE

Revenue represents the consideration expected to be entitled by the Group in 
respect of the manufacturing and sales of (i) cable assembly products, (ii) digital 
cable and (iii) server, during the year ended 31 December 2024 and the nine 
months ended 31 December 2023, excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties.

The revenue of Group derives from manufacturing and sales of cable assembly 
products, digital cable and server. The Group’s revenue is fixed price and short-
term contracts. The normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon delivery.

All sales contracts are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied and partially unsatisfied 
performance obligation in contracts is not disclosed.

5. 

(c) 

10%

6. 

2024 12 31
2023 12 31 (i)
(ii) (iii)

30 120

15
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6.	 REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Revenue from its major products
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cable assembly
– Optical fibres – 1,349,133 941,506
– Copper – 1,428,251 787,692
– Others – 6,421 –

Digital cable
– Cat 6/6A cables – Cat 6/6A 1,058,728 701,724
– Cat 5/5e cables – Cat 5/5e 65,998 67,584
– Cat 7/7A cables – Cat 7/7A 55,159 19,406
– Specialty cable – 236,970 76,968

Server
– Sales of server products – 3,188,091 2,218,543
– Commission income from resales of 

server related components
– 

– 12,829
  

7,388,751 4,826,252
  

Over time 1,124,338 787,845
Point in time 6,264,413 4,038,407

  

7,388,751 4,826,252
  

7.	 OTHER INCOME

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Government grants (note) 5,746 4,355
Interest income 21,338 42,764
Others 14,182 3,331

  

41,266 50,450
  

Note:	 The government grants in both reporting periods were related to export and 
other incentive payments received by the Group from PRC authorities. There were 
no unfulfilled conditions attached to these grants.

8.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Net foreign exchange loss (3,549) (21,805)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (3,310) (1,424)
Loss on change in fair value of financial 

assets at FVTPL
 

– (114)
Net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of 

derivative financial instrument
 

17,669 (5,177)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 142 –
Others – (100)

  

10,952 (28,620)
  

6. 

7. 

 

8. 
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9.	 FINANCE COSTS

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interest on bank borrowings 20,135 32,109
Interest on loans from related companies 50,050 54,129
Interest on lease liabilities 3,058 2,341

  

73,243 88,579
  

10.	PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit before taxation has been arrived at 
after charging/(crediting):

 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 71,847 54,020

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 29,680 19,789
Less: capitalised in inventories (83,208) (59,603)

  

18,319 14,206
  

Amortisation of intangible assets 48 –

Directors’ emoluments (note 11) 11 21,986 14,131
Other staff costs 696,942 357,999
Retirement benefits schemes contributions 

for other staff 84,366 63,980
Equity-settled share-based payment for  

other staff
 

34,330 19,573
  

Total staff costs 837,624 455,683
Less: capitalised in inventories (524,782) (305,722)

  

312,842 149,961
  

Auditor’s remuneration
– BDO Limited –  

2,500 2,350
– Other auditors – 979 159

  

3,479 2,509
  

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 
(including the write-down of inventories 
during the year ended 31 December 
2024 amounting to HK$13,349,000 
(nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
HK$21,648,000))

 
2024 12 31  

13,349,000  
2023 12 31  

21,648,000  
6,310,137 4,146,343

Impairment loss under ECL on trade 
receivables

 
643 1,331

  

9. 

10. 
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11.	DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to directors of the Company are as follows:

Fees

Salaries  
and 

allowances

Performance 
related 

incentive 
payment

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payments

Retirement  
benefits  
schemes  

contributions Total

  
 
  

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Executive directors:

Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (note a) a – 5,010 3,066 2,929 231 11,236
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen – 3,196 1,956 2,661 147 7,960

Non-executive directors:
Ms. Wang Laichun 390 – – – – 390

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Ho Hin Shun 290 – – 510 – 800
Mr. Luk Wai Shing 290 – – 510 – 800
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric 290 – – 510 – 800

      

1,260 8,206 5,022 7,120 378 21,986
      

For the nine months ended 31 December 2023 2023 12 31  

Executive directors:
Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon (note a) a – 3,607 2,105 1,491 166 7,369
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen – 2,301 1,342 1,355 106 5,104

Non-executive directors:
Ms. Wang Laichun 293 – – – – 293

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Ho Hin Shun 195 – – 260 – 455
Mr. Luk Wai Shing 195 – – 260 – 455
Mr. Chan Chung Shun Eric 195 – – 260 – 455

      

878 5,908 3,447 3,626 272 14,131
 

     

Notes:

(a)	 Mr. Cua Tin Yin Simon is the chief executive officer of the Company and his 
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the 
chief executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in 
connection with the management of affairs of the Group. The emoluments 
of non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors shown 
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to 
the operating results of the Group and individual performance.

11.  

(a) 

(a) 
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11.	DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Employees’ emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, 2 
(nine months ended 31 December 2023: 2) were directors and the chief 
executive officer of the Company whose emoluments are included in the 
disclosures above. The emoluments of the remaining 3 (nine months ended 
31 December 2023: 3) individuals were as follows:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and allowances 5,795 4,241
Performance related incentive payment 2,083 1,499
Equity-settled share-based payments 5,623 5,106
Retirement benefits schemes 

contributions 213 157
  

13,714 11,003
  

The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to 
the operating results of the Group and individual performance.

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining 3 (nine months 
ended 31 December 2023:3) individuals with the highest emoluments fell 
within the following bands are as follows:

Number of individuals

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

    

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 2,500,000 – –
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 3,000,000 – 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 3,000,001 5,500,000 2 –
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 6,000,000 1 1

  

3 3
  

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company and 
the chief executive officer of the Group or the five highest paid individuals 
(including directors, chief executives and employees) as an inducement to 
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None 
of the directors of the Company nor the chief executive officer of the Group 
waived any emoluments during both years.

11.  

(b) 
2 2023

12 31 2

3 2023 12 31 3

3 2023 12 31
3
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12.	TAXATION

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong Profits Tax
Current tax 36,290 11,012
Under-provision in respect of prior years – 10

  

36,290 11,022
  

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)
Current tax 63,047 55,261
Over provision in respect of prior years (959) (956)

  

62,088 54,305
  

Other Jurisdiction Income Tax
Current tax 613 –

  

613 –
  

Deferred tax (note 28) 28 (13,761) (471)
  

85,230 64,856
  

(i)	 Hong Kong Profits Tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable 
profit for both reporting periods.

(ii)	 PRC EIT
Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation 
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. 
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain entities of 
the Group operating in the PRC were awarded the Advanced-Technology 
Enterprise Certificate and are eligible for tax concessionary rate of 15% 
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the nine months ended 31 
December 2023.

Certain entities operating in the PRC that have taxable income of not more 
than RMB3 million, the quarterly average of total assets does not exceed 
RMB50 million as well as the quarterly average number of employees does 
not exceed 300 are qualified as small and micro enterprises for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 and the nine months ended 31 December 2023. 
For the first RMB1 million taxable income, 25% of its first RMB1 million 
taxable income would be taxed at a reduced rate of 20%. With effect from 
1 January to 31 December 2022, these entities were entitled to a further 
reduced EIT rate of 10% on 25% of its first RMB1 million taxable income. 
For the portion over first RMB1 million and up to RMB3 million, only 25% 
of the taxable income would be taxed at a reduced EIT rate of 20% from 1 
January 2023 to 31 December 2027.

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax 
Bureau of the PRC that was effective from 2021 onwards, enterprises 
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim an 
additional 100% of their research and development expense (“Super 
Deduction”) so incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their 
assessable profits for both reporting periods. The Group has made its best 
estimate for the Super Deduction to be claimed for the Group’s entities in 
ascertaining their assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the nine months ended 31 December 2023.

12. 

(i) 

16.5%

(ii) 

25%

2024 12 31
2023 12 31

15%

3
50

300
2024 12 31

2023 12 31
1

1
25% 20% 2022 1

1 12 31
1 25%

10% 2023 1 1
2027 12 31 1

3
25% 20%

2021

100%

2024 12 31
2023 12 31
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12.	TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation for the year/period can be reconciled to the profit before taxation as 
follows:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit before taxation 535,731 342,463
  

Tax charge of Hong Kong Profits Tax at 
16.5% (nine months ended 31 March 
2023: 16.5%)

16.5%
2023 3 31

16.5% 88,396 56,506
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 

tax purposes
 

6,376 3,922
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 

purposes
 

(4,795) (662)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7,775 635
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses 

previously not recognised
 

(69) (188)
Effect of income tax on concessionary rates 

for PRC subsidiaries
 

(23,549) (16,233)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries in 

jurisdictions other than Hong Kong
 

35,174 24,360
Over-provision in respect of prior years (959) (946)
Tax effect of super deduction for research 

and development expenses
 

(23,290) (2,740)
Others 171 202

  

85,230 64,856
  

13.	EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to 
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Earnings for the purposes of calculating 
basic and diluted earnings per share 
(profit for the year/period attributable to 
owners of the Company)

 
 

450,872 277,144
  

Number of shares

’000 ’000

    

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares for the purpose of calculating 
basic earnings per share 1,946,579 1,945,952

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
– Share options – 43,371 –

  

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares for the purpose of calculating 
diluted earnings per share

 

1,989,950 1,945,952
  

12. 

13. 
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14.	DIVIDENDS

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Dividends recognised as distribution during 
the year/period:
Final dividend in respect of previous 

financial year – HK0.7 cents (nine 
months ended 31 December 2023: 
final dividend in respect of previous 
financial year – HK0.5 cents) per 
ordinary share

 –  
0.7  

2023 12 31  
 

 –  
0.5 13,622 9,730

Interim dividend – HK1.0 cent (nine 
months ended 31 December 2023: 
interim dividend – HK0.75 cents) per 
ordinary share

 – 1.0
2023 12 31  

 –  
0.75 19,470 14,595

  

33,092 24,325
  

On 28 March 2025, a final dividend of HK1.3 cents per ordinary share in 
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, totalling HK$25,349,000 has 
been proposed by the board of directors of the Company. The final dividend 
is subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

14. 

2025 3 28
2024 12 31

1.3 25,349,000



136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT‘D)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 2024 12 31

匯聚科技有限公司 TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

15.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 

machinery
Tools and 

moulds

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor  
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

  

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

COST OR VALUATION
At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 262,459 135,216 884,112 54,137 144,131 10,437 1,967 1,492,459
Currency realignment (8,861) (4,249) (31,049) (2,262) (5,111) (313) (34) (51,879)
Additions 103 2,357 34,554 17,402 19,511 282 906 75,115
Transfer from construction in 

progress – – 2,825 – – – (2,825) –
Disposals/written off – (5,753) (2,487) (2,006) (1,466) (638) – (12,350)
Revaluation adjustment to profit 

or loss 71 – – – – – – 71
Revaluation adjustment to 

revaluation reserve (1,910) – – – – – – (1,910)
        

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 251,862 127,571 887,955 67,271 157,065 9,768 14 1,501,506
Currency realignment (5,465) (3,212) (20,455) (1,744) (3,787) (183) (2) (34,848)
Additions – 26,195 79,659 22,512 29,009 3,187 132 160,694
Acquired on acquisition of a 

subsidiary – – 481 10 136 715 – 1,342
Transfer from construction in 

progress – – – – – – – –
Disposals/written off – (853) (28,387) (3,242) (9,062) (1,174) – (42,718)
Revaluation adjustment to profit 

or loss (1,257) – – – – – – (1,257)
Revaluation adjustment to 

revaluation reserve (4,998) – – – – – – (4,998)
        

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 240,142 149,701 919,253 84,807 173,361 12,313 144 1,579,721
        

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 – 100,821 403,644 29,548 69,463 8,796 – 612,272
Currency realignment (112) (3,425) (14,650) (1,198) (2,608) (262) – (22,255)
Provided for the year 5,562 6,145 24,725 3,784 13,437 367 – 54,020
Disposals/written off – (5,048) (1,143) (1,618) (1,251) (574) – (9,634)
Eliminated on revaluation (5,450) – – – – – – (5,450)

        

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 – 98,493 412,576 30,516 79,041 8,327 – 628,953
Currency realignment (94) (2,127) (10,205) (845) (1,792) (157) – (15,220)
Provided for the period 7,508 4,577 31,688 10,220 17,354 500 – 71,847
Disposals/written off – (92) (7,988) (1,697) (7,741) (1,073) – (18,591)
Eliminated on revaluation (7,414) – – – – – – (7,414)

        

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 – 100,851 426,071 38,194 86,862 7,597 – 659,575
        

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31

– Cost less accumulated 
depreciation

– 
– 48,850 493,182 46,613 86,499 4,716 144 680,004

– Valuation – 240,142 – – – – – – 240,142
        

240,142 48,850 493,182 46,613 86,499 4,716 144 920,146
        

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
– Cost less accumulated 

depreciation
– 

– 29,078 475,379 36,755 78,024 1,441 14 620,691
– Valuation – 251,862 – – – – – – 251,862

        

251,862 29,078 475,379 36,755 78,024 1,441 14 872,553
        

15. 
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15.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and 
equipment (other than construction in progress), using straight-line method or 
reducing balance method over the following useful lives:

Straight-line method:
Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining term of the 

related land lease or estimated useful lives

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the related lease 
or 10 years

Tools and moulds 5 – 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and 

equipment
5 – 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Reducing balance method:
Plant and machinery 10 – 15 years

Fair value measurement of the Land and Buildings
The Group’s Land and Buildings were revalued on 31 December 2024 and 31 
December 2023 by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited and RHL Appraisal 
Limited respectively, an independent qualified valuer not related to the 
Group. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the net revaluation loss of 
HK$19,084,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: net revaluation gain 
of HK$10,198,000), comprising the revaluation loss of HK$21,501,000 (nine 
months ended 31 December 2023: revaluation gain of HK$6,658,000) arising 
from right-of-use assets and revaluation gain HK$2,417,000 (nine months ended 
31 December 2023: revaluation gain of HK$3,540,000) arising from property, 
plant and equipment, have been debited (nine months ended 31 December 
2023: credited) to property revaluation reserve, and the corresponding total 
deferred tax of HK$4,834,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
HK$2,553,000), have been credited (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
debited) to the property revaluation reserve.

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the net revaluation loss 
of HK$11,877,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: net revaluation 
loss of HK$2,389,000), comprising of revaluation loss of HK$10,620,000 
(nine months ended 31 December 2023: HK$2,460,000) arising from right-
of-use assets and revaluation loss of HK$1,257,000 (nine months ended 31 
December 2023: HK$71,000) arising from property, plant and equipment, is 
debited to profit and loss (31 December 2023: debited) and the corresponding 
total deferred tax of HK$2,781,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
HK$608,000) have been credited (nine months ended 31 December 2023: 
credited) to profit or loss. The valuations by the independent qualified valuer are 
arrived by direct comparison approach assuming sale of the Land and Buildings 
in their existing states with their highest and best use and by making reference 
to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market. The direct 
comparison approach is based on market observable recent transactions of 
similar properties in similar locations. There has been no change to the valuation 
technique during the reporting period.

If the Land and Buildings of the Group had not been revalued, they would 
have been included in these consolidated financial statements at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and their carrying amounts would have 
been approximately HK$176,228,000 (31 December 2023: HK$185,325,000) 
as property, plant and equipment and approximately HK$76,611,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$80,480,000) as right-of-use assets as at 31 December 
2024.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these Land 
and Buildings are determined (in particular, the valuation technique and inputs 
used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements 
are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair 
value measurements is observable.

15. 
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15.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement of the Land and Buildings (continued)

Description Fair value at
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques and  
key inputs

Significant  
unobservable inputs Sensitivity

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Buildings in the 
PRC

240,142 251,862 Level 3 Direct comparison method based 
on market observable transactions 
of similar properties and adjusted 
for timing of reference transactions 
and property-specific adjustments 
including nature, location and 
conditions of the property.

Adjusted price per square metre, 
using market direct comparable 
properties and taking into account 
location and other individual 
factors such as road frontage, size 
of property etc., which is ranged 
from RMB1,513 to RMB2,096 
(2023: RMB1,525 to RMB2,138) 
per square meter.

A significant increase in the adjusted 
price per square meter used would 
result in a significant increase in 
the fair value measurement of the 
buildings, and vice versa.

240,142 251,862

1,513
2,096 2023

1,525 2,138

Leasehold land 
in the PRC 
(included in 
right-of-use 
assets in 
Note 16)

232,135 274,551 Level 3 Direct comparison method based 
on market observable transactions 
of similar properties and adjusted 
for timing of reference transactions 
and property-specific adjustments 
including nature, location and 
conditions of the property.

Adjusted price per square metre, 
using market direct comparable 
properties and taking into account 
location and other individual 
factors such as road frontage, size 
of property etc., which is ranged 
from RMB1,335 to RMB1,738 
(2023: RMB1,295 to RMB1,918) 
per square meter.

A significant increase in the adjusted 
price per square meter used would 
result in a significant increase in 
the fair value measurement of the 
leasehold land and vice versa.

 
 

 
16  

232,135 274,551

1,335
1,738 2023

1,295 1,918

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

16.	RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold 
land

Leasehold 
properties Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note a)
a     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Carrying amounts

– Cost less accumulated depreciation – – 49,004 49,004
– Valuation – 232,135 – 232,135

   

232,135 49,004 281,139
   

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Carrying amounts

– Cost less accumulated depreciation – – 57,549 57,549
– Valuation – 274,551 – 274,551

   

274,551 57,549 332,100
   

For the year ended 31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Loss on revaluation for the year (note a) a 32,121 – 32,121
Depreciation for the year 4,874 24,806 29,680

   

For the nine months ended  
31 December 2023

2023 12 31

Gain on revaluation for the period (note a) a (4,198) – (4,198)
Depreciation for the period 4,708 15,081 19,789

   

15. 

2024 12 31

16. 
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16.	RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Expense relating to short-term leases 
(note b)

b
1,174 1,260

Total cash outflow for leases 27,713 20,723
Additions to right-of-use assets 17,341 15,359

  

Notes:

(a)	 The leasehold land held by the Group was accounted for under revaluation model. 
Please refer to note 15 for details.

(b)	 The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office and staff quarters, of 
which the Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of office 
and staff quarters. As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the portfolio of 
short-term leases in which practical expedient was applied is similar to the portfolio of 
short-term leases to which the short-term leases expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised additions 
of right-of-use assets amounting to HK$17,341,000 (nine months ended 31 
December 2023: HK$15,359,000) and additions of lease liabilities amounting 
to HK$17,341,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: HK$15,359,000), 
which constitutes non-cash transactions.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and the nine months ended 31 December 
2023, the Group leases leasehold properties for its manufacturing operations. 
Lease contracts for leasehold properties are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 
15 years (the nine months ended 31 December 2023: 1 to 15 years) but may 
have termination options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on 
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable 
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period 
for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has a termination option in a lease for a production plant in the PRC. 
This is used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets 
used in the Group’s operations. The termination option held is exercisable only 
by the Group and not by the lessor. No extension options are included in any of 
the lease agreements entered by the Group.

The Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain not to exercise a termination 
option, upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change 
in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee. During the year ended 
31 December 2024 and the nine months ended 31 December 2023, there is no 
such triggering event.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its manufacturing 
facilities are primarily located and office buildings. The Group is the registered 
owner of these property interests, including the underlying leasehold land. Lump 
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The land 
and building components of these owned properties are presented separately 
since the payments made can be allocated reliably. The land component of 
the Group is classified as right-of-use assets and the building component is 
classified as property, plant and equipment.

16. 

(a) 
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(b) 
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17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Licenses and patents

HK$’000

   

COST
At 1 April 2023, 31 December 2023 2023 4 1 2023 12 31 –
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40) 40 495
Currency realignment 9

 

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 504
 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2023, 31 December 2023 2023 4 1 2023 12 31 –
Provided for the year 48
Currency realignment (2)

 

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 46
 

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 458
At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 –

 

The above items of intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful 
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Licenses and patents Over the contract period of no more than 6 years.

18.	ASSOCIATES

An analysis of the investments in associates is as follows:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cost of investments in associates 11,394 –
Share of results of associates, net (648) –
Currency realignment (61) –

  

10,685 –
  

Details of the Group’s interests in associates, which are accounted for under 
equity method, are as follows:

Name of associate
Place of incorporation 
and operation Class of shares held

ownership interest 
(ordinary share) and voting 
power held by the Group Principal activities

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
      

Time Interconnect Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore Ordinary shares 49% – Trading of digital cables

Valkyrie Industries Limited United Kingdom Ordinary shares 16.75% – Manufacture of 
consumer electronics

17. 

6

18. 
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18.	ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a)	 Time Interconnect Singapore Pte. Ltd
On 5 September 2024, the Group and Luxshare Precision Limited 
(“Luxshare”), the controlling shareholder of the Group, established a 
new company, Time Interconnect Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“Time Singapore”), 
in Singapore. The Group paid USD196,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$1,525,000) for 49%, and Luxshare paid USD204,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$1,588,000) for 51% shareholding of Time Singapore. 
The purpose of the new company is to evaluate potential investment 
opportunities in the overseas markets and pursue acquisition of overseas 
businesses.

Summarised financial information in respect of Time Singapore is set out 
below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts 
shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with 
HKFRSs.

31.12.2024
HK$’000

   

Current assets 3,116
Current liabilities (37)
Loss for the period (47)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying 
amount of the interest in an associate recognised in these consolidated 
financial statements:

31.12.2024
HK$’000

   

Net assets of Time Singapore Time Singapore 3,079
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  

interest in Time Singapore
Time Singapore

49%
 

1,509
Currency realignment (7)

 

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in 
Time Singapore

Time Singapore
1,502

 

18. 

(a) Time Interconnect Singapore Pte. Ltd
2024 9 5

Time Interconnect Singapore 
Pte. Ltd. Time Singapore
196,000 1,525,000
Time Singapore 49%
204,000 1,588,000
Time Singapore 51%

Time Singapore
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18.	ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Valkyrie Industries Limited
On 8 July 2024, Time Interconnect Investment Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company entered into an agreement with an independent 
third party to acquire 16.75% of the issued shares in the Valkyrie Industries 
Limited (“Valkyrie”) at the consideration of GBP1,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$9,869,000). Valkyrie is principally engaged in the 
manufacturing of consumer electronics and development of digital health 
and fitness related technology.

Summarised financial information in respect of Valkyrie is set out below. 
The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in 
the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

31.12.2024
HK$’000

   

Current assets 6,884
Non-current assets 47
Current liabilities (577)
Revenue for the period 122
Loss for the period (3,732)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying 
amount of the interest in an associate recognised in these consolidated 
financial statements:

31.12.2024
HK$’000

   

Net assets of Valkyrie Valkyrie 6,354
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 

in Valkyrie
Valkyrie

16.75%
 

1,064
Goodwill on acquisition of interest in  

Valkyrie
Valkyrie

8,173
Currency realignment (54)

 

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in 
Valkyrie

Valkyrie
9,183

 

19.	 INVENTORIES

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Raw materials 856,039 901,977
Work in progress 92,088 99,660
Finished goods 443,006 308,650

  

1,391,133 1,310,287
  

18. 

(b)	 Valkyrie Industries Limited
2024 7 8

Time Interconnect Investment Limited
1,000,000

9,869,000 Valkyrie 
Industries Limited Valkyrie 16.75%

Valkyrie

Valkyrie

19. 
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20.	TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables 1,386,839 2,065,390
Trade receivables from related companies 75,885 60,812
Bills receivables 24,318 20,234

  

1,487,042 2,146,436
Less: Allowance for credit losses (5,305) (4,662)

  

1,481,737 2,141,774
  

Value added tax receivables 177,759 129,048
Other receivables 5,274 2,591
Deposits and prepayments 96,918 40,332

  

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 279,951 171,971
  

Trade and other receivables 1,761,688 2,313,745
  

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 120 days to its trade 
customers. Before accepting any new customers, the Group will internally 
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and determine appropriate 
credit limits. The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables net of allowance 
for credit losses at the end of the reporting periods as presented, based on 
the right to consideration became unconditional/invoice date at the end of the 
reporting periods is as follows:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 – 30 days 0 30 839,558 1,567,253
31 – 60 days 31 60 342,810 317,305
61 – 90 days 61 90 191,026 167,037
91 – 180 days 91 180 73,047 88,046
Over 180 days 180 35,296 2,133

  

1,481,737 2,141,774
  

At 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade receivable balances are trade 
receivables of HK$82,900,000 (31 December 2023: HK$73,617,000) which are 
past due at the end of the reporting period. An amount of HK$891,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$1,491,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not 
considered as in default based on financial information available in the market, 
creditability and good repayment records of those customers. The Group does 
not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 38.

Included in trade and other receivables are the following amounts denominated 
in currency other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

USD 11,691 38,536
HK$ 1,254 1,430
Euro 742 1,288
Renminbi (“RMB”) – 164

  

20. 

30 120

2024 12 31
82,900,000 2023 12 31

73,617,000
891,000 2023 12 31

1,491,000 90

2024 12 31
38
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21.	CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets arising from sales of cable assembly to a customer primarily 
relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed and not billed 
because the rights are condition on the Group’s future performance. Contract 
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the production of cable assembly 
products are completed, being when the rights become unconditional.

The significant increase in contract assets for the year ended 31 December 
2024 is the result of the increase in purchase orders from the customer under 
processing at the end of the year.

22.	PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits placed in banks to secure general 
banking facilities granted to the Group and carry variable interest rates ranging 
from 1% to 4.28% (31 December 2023: 0.25% to 5.92%) per annum. 
Pledged bank deposits include principal amounting to HK$124,403,000 (31 
December 2023: principal amounting to HK$942,692,000, the related interest 
receivables), the deposits have been pledged to secure short-term bank loans 
and bills payable and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged 
bank deposits will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings 
and bills payable.

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-term deposits for 
the purpose of meeting the Group’s short-term cash commitments and having 
an initial maturity period of not more than 3 months. They carry interest at 
prevailing market rates ranging from 0.001% to 4.49% (31 December 2023: 
0.001% to 5.32%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of cash and cash equivalents and pledged 
bank deposits are set out in note 38.

Included in cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits are the 
following amounts denominated in currencies other than functional currencies 
of the respective group entities:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

USD 33,702 170,438
HK$ 3,202 3,586
Euro 1,741 880
RMB 240 11,816

  

21. 

2024 12 31

22. 

1%
4.28% 2023 12 31 0.25% 5.92%

124,403,000 2023 12 31
942,692,000

0.001%
4.49% 2023 12 31 0.001% 5.32%

38
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23.	TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables 1,206,804 793,459
Trade payables to related companies 34,114 52,125
Bills payables 155,603 648,263

  

Trade and bills payables 1,396,521 1,493,847
  

Other payables 75,104 22,834
Dividend payable – 14,595
Salaries and staff related costs payables 99,457 84,164
Accrued charges 12,959 12,089
Other tax payables 8,082 7,494

  

Accruals and other payables 195,602 141,176
  

Trade and other payables 1,592,123 1,635,023
  

The average credit period of trade payables ranges from 30 days to 120 days.

The aging analysis of trade and bills payables at the end of the reporting periods 
based on invoice date is as follows:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 – 30 days 0 30 771,876 536,614
31 – 60 days 31 60 253,308 211,053
61 – 90 days 61 90 176,819 657,545
91 – 180 days 91 180 194,306 88,530
Over 180 days 180 212 105

  

1,396,521 1,493,847
  

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts denominated 
in currencies other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

USD 209,112 69,003
HK$ 425 15,054
Euro 666 2,966
RMB 1,346 1,308

  

24.	CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amounts represent deposits received from customers in relation to 
their purchase orders placed with the Group. At 31 December 2024 and 31 
December 2023, the deposits received from customers are contract liabilities 
and the Group does not expect to refund any of these amounts.

As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to HK$2,227,000.

The contract liabilities at 1 January 2024 and 1 April 2023 were fully recognised 
as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the nine months ended 
31 December 2023, respectively. When the Group receives a deposit before 
commencement of the production activity, this will give rise to contract liabilities 
at the inception of a contract.

23. 

30 120

24. 

2024 12 31 2023
12 31

2023 4 1 2,227,000

2024 1 1 2023 4 1
2024 12 31 2023

12 31
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25.	LEASE LIABILITIES

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Lease liabilities payable:
– within one year – 19,441 23,083
– more than one year but not exceeding  

two years
– 

17,569 19,038
– more than two years but not exceeding  

five years
– 

14,261 22,061
– within a period of more than five years – 5,091 835

  

56,362 65,017
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 

months shown under current liabilities
12

19,441 (23,083)
  

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 
shown under non-current liabilities

12  
36,921 41,934

  

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant 
group entities range from 3.00% to 5.64% (31 December 2023: 3.00% to 
5.64%). These lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not yet paid.

Lease obligations are denominated in currencies which are same as the 
functional currencies of the relevant group entities.

26.	BANK BORROWINGS

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Bank loans 243,159 1,206,521
Import/export trade borrowings – 40,054  

243,159 1,246,575  
Secured (note) 18,963 915,945
Unsecured 224,196 330,630  

243,159 1,246,575
  

Note:	 The bank loans are secured by pledged bank deposits, which are set out in note 22.

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    
The carrying amounts of the above 

borrowing are repayable:
On demand or within one year 237,525 1,166,575
Within a period of more than one year 

but not exceeding two years 1,148 40,000
Within a period of more than two years 

but not exceeding five years 4,486 40,000  
243,159 1,246,575

Less: Amounts due within one year shown 
under current liabilities 237,525 (1,166,575)  

Amount shown under non-current liabilities 5,634 80,000  

25. 

3.00% 5.64% 2023 12 31 3.00%
5.64%

26. 

 22
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26.	BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The bank loans and import/export trade borrowings carry variable interest 
rates, which are 1.5% over term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) 
(31 December 2023: 2.05% – 2.5% over Hong Kong Inter-bank offered Rate 
(“HIBOR”)) per annum and at the PRC loan prime rate minus a fixed rate.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest 
rates) on the Group’s borrowings as at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Effective interest rate:

Fixed-rate borrowings 0.40% to  4.94% 1.03% to  5.52%
Variable-rate borrowings 5.84% 7.70% to  7.77%  

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated in 
currencies other than functional currencies of the respective group entities:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    
USD 18,963 143,495
HK$ – 132,444
JPY – –  

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”) has been 
identified as an alternative to HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. 
The multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and 
HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan linked to HIBOR will continue till 
maturity and hence, not subject to transition.

27.	AMOUNTS DUE TO/LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

As at 31 December 2024, the balances with related companies represents the 
balances with Luxshare and its subsidiaries excluding the Group (“Luxshare 
Group”) and comprises:

(a)	 the loans amounting to USD80,000,000 (equivalent to HK$621,015,000) 
are unsecured, interest were charged ranged from 3% to 4% per annum 
and repayable in March, July and August 2025, and is included as current 
liabilities;

(b)	 the loan amounting HK$498,998,000 is unsecured, interest bearing at 3% 
per annum and repayable in December 2025, and is included as current 
liabilities;

(c)	 the interest payable amounting to USD3,406,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$26,434,000) and HK$1,025,000 are included as current 
liabilities; and

(d)	 the remaining amounts due to related companies of HK$13,022,000 are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

26. 
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27.	AMOUNTS DUE TO/LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of above loans are repayable:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

On demand or within one year 1,147,472 1,172,042
Within a period of more than one year but 

not exceeding two years – 499,034
Within a period of more than two years but 

not exceeding five years – –
  

1,147,472 1,671,076
Less: Amounts due within one year shown 

under current liabilities (1,147,472) (1,172,042)
  

Amount shown under non-current liabilities – 499,034
  

Included in loans from related companies are the following amounts 
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies of the respective 
group entities:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    
USD 465,765 1,148,135
HK$ 500,023 500,059  

28.	DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movement on the deferred tax account is as shown below:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$'000 HK$'000

    

Opening amount 91,757 90,728
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40) 40 (304) –
Recognised in profit and loss

– Tax expense – (13,457) (471)
Recognised in other comprehensive income

– Revaluation of property – (4,875) 2,553
Exchange realignment (1,451) (1,053)

  

Closing amount 71,670 91,757
 

 

27. 

28. 
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28.	DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and 
movements thereon during the year/period:

Deferred tax assets

Tax loss
Lease 

liabilities

Other
timing 

difference Total
 

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(Note)

 

 
    

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 (3,825) (9,739) (5,104) (18,668)
Charge to profit or loss (note 12) 12 3,373 (86) (6,392) (3,105)
Exchange realignment 69 498 172 739

    

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 (383) (9,327) (11,324) (21,034)
Charge to profit or loss (note 12) 12 (7,543) (1,971) 330 (9,184)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40) 40 – – 304 304
Exchange realignment 23 (54) 188 157

    

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 (7,903) (11,352) (10,502) (29,757)
    

Deferred tax liabilities

Revaluation 
surplus on 
Land and 
Buildings

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
Right-of-

use assets Total
 

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

 

 
    

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 69,317 31,166 8,913 109,396
Credit to profit or loss (note 12) 12 (608) 3,062 180 2,634
Debit to other comprehensive income 2,553 – – 2,553
Exchange realignment (2,317) 1,003 (478) (1,792)

    

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 68,945 35,231 8,615 112,791
Credit to profit or loss (note 12) 12 (2,799) (3,875) 1,793 (4,881)
Debit to other comprehensive income (4,875) – – (4,875)
Exchange realignment (1,380) (301) 73 (1,608)

    

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 59,891 31,055 10,481 101,427
    

Note:	 The amount represents the tax effect of timing difference of revenue recognition, 
timing difference of write-down of inventories and impairment loss under ECL.

28. 
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28.	DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$92,555,000 
(31 December 2023: HK$28,715,000) available for offset against future profits. 
A deferred tax assets has been recognised in respective of approximately 
HK$46,016,000 (31 December 2023: 3,048,000) of such loss. No deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining losses approximately 
HK$46,539,000 (31 December 2023: HK$25,667,000) due to sufficient future 
taxable profits are not probable. Included in unused tax losses are losses of 
HK$36,226,000 (31 December 2023: HK$16,567,000) that will expire in five 
years. The remaining unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared 
in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. 
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated 
profits of the PRC subsidiary amounting to HK$956,304,000 (31 December 
2023: HK$674,558,000) at 31 December 2024, as the Group is able to control 
the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

29.	LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATION

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    
Opening unfunded obligation 1,693 –
Expenses recognised in profit or loss
– Current service costs – – 1,693
Others (1,246) –

  

Closing unfunded obligation 447 1,693
  

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 December 2024 is 11 years.

No current service costs for the year shall be included in the staff costs in profit 
or loss.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the LSP obligation 
are discount rate of 2.92%, expected salary increase of 3.48% and expected 
investment return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits of 2.50%. The sensitivity 
analysis below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes of 
the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while 
holding all other assumptions constant.

•	 If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower), the LSP obligation 
would decrease by HK$4,000 (increase by HK$4,000).

•	 If the expected salary increases (decreases) by 1%, the LSP obligation would 
increase by HK$3,000 (decrease by HK$3,000).

•	 If the expected investment return on offsetable MPF contribution is 50 
basis points higher (lower), the LSP obligation would decrease by HK$2,000 
(increase by HK$2,000).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual 
change in the LSP obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions 
would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be 
correlated.

28. 
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30.	SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 1 April 2023, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 
represents the share capital of the Company. The followings are the details of 
the share capital of the Company:

Number of 
shares Amount

HK$ HK$’000

     
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 0.01
Authorised:

At 1 April 2023, 31 December 2023  
and 31 December 2024

2023 4 1 2023 12 31
2024 12 31 3,000,000,000 30,000,000 30,000

   

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 1,945,952,000 19,459,520 19,460
Exercise of share options – – –

   

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 1,945,952,000 19,459,520 19,460
Exercise of share options 2,792,000 27,920 27

   

31 December 2024 2024 12 31 1,948,744,000 19,487,440 19,487
   

31.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

2023 Share Option Scheme
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting 
of the Company held on 21 March 2023, the Company conditionally adopted 
a new share option scheme (the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) and terminated 
the 2018 Share Option Scheme. The 2023 Share Option Scheme will remain in 
force for a period of 10 years commencing on such adoption date.

The purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is to recognise the contribution 
or future contribution of the Eligible Participants (as defined below) for their 
contribution to the Group by granting options to them as incentives or rewards 
and to attract, retain and motivate high-calibre Eligible Participants in line with 
the performance goals of the Group and the related entities of the Company.

The Eligible Participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme include:

(a)	 the directors, chief executive and employees of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options under the 2023 
Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts 
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries) (“Employee Participants”);

(b)	 any persons (whether a natural person, a corporate entity or otherwise) 
who provide services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its 
ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interest of the long-
term growth of the Group, including (a) suppliers of services to any member 
of the Group; and (b) advisors (professional or otherwise) or consultants to 
any area of business or business development of any member of the Group 
(“Service Providers”); and

(c)	 the directors, chief executives and employees of the holding companies, 
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (“Related 
Entity Participants”).

Employee Participants, Service Providers and Related Entity Participants, are 
collectively known as the “Eligible Participants”.

30. 
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31.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all options 
to be granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme and all options and awards 
to be granted under any other share option schemes and share award schemes 
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 194,595,200, representing 10% 
of shares in issue on the adoption date unless the Company obtains approval 
from the shareholders of the Company. The total number of shares which may 
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted to Service Providers shall not 
exceed 19,459,520 shares, representing 1% of the total number of the shares 
in issue on the adoption date unless the Company obtains approval from the 
shareholders of the Company.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options 
and awards granted to each Eligible Participant in any twelve-month period 
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the number of the total issued 
shares as at the date of grant. Where options are proposed to be granted to an 
independent non-executive director or a substantial shareholder, or any of their 
respective associates in any twelve-month period up to the date of grant shall 
not exceed 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue. Any further grant of 
share options and awards granted and to be granted to such person in excess of 
the above limit shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the 
approval of the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.

Share options granted must be taken up within twenty-one business date of the 
date of grant upon payment of HK$1 per option on acceptance of the offer.

An option must be held by the option holder for at least twelve months before 
the option can be exercised unless a shorter vesting period may be granted to 
the employees at the discretion of the board of directors.

The exercise price shall be determined on the date of grant by the directors, 
which shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the 
Company as stated in the HK Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must 
be a trading day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the 
Company as stated in the HK Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for five 
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value 
of the shares of the Company on the date of grant.

On 24 July 2023, the directors of the Company announced that 118,360,000 
share options (the “Options”) to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company 
of HK$0.01 each were offered to be granted to 98 eligible participants, subject 
to acceptance of the eligible participants, pursuant to the 2023 Share Option 
Scheme.

1/5 of the Options can be exercised after 12 months of the date of grant (i.e. 24 
July 2024), further 1/5 of the Options can be exercised after 24 months of the 
date of grant (i.e. 24 July 2025), further 1/5 of the Options can be exercised after 
36 months of the date of grant (i.e. 24 July 2026), further 1/5 of the Options 
can be exercised after 48 months of the date of grant (i.e. 24 July 2027), and 
the remaining of the Options can be exercised after 60 months of the date of 
grant (i.e. 24 July 2028) and all of these Options will be exercisable until 23 July 
2033. For Options granted to Eligible Participants other than the independent 
non-executive directors, the portion of Options to be vested is subject to the 
performance appraisal of the Eligible Participants for the immediately preceding 
calendar year which takes into account certain qualitative and quantitative 
performance indicators. For Options, granted to the independent non-executive 
directors, the vesting of Options is not subject to any performance targets.
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31.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

2023 Share Option Scheme (continued)

For share options granted on 24 July 2023 to the executive directors of the 
Company, the Group’s employees and the Group’s service providers, the share 
options are vested in five equal tranches over a period of five years commencing 
from the date falling on the first anniversary of the date of grant. The portion 
of each tranche of share options to be vested is subject to the performance 
appraisal of the grantees for the immediately preceding calendar year which 
takes into account certain qualitative and quantitative performance indicators. 
Such performance indicators include, but are not limited to, the achievement of 
strategic objectives or goals assigned to the grantees and the assessment of the 
competencies of the grantees. The highest rank for the performance appraisal 
result of a grantee (the “Performance Grading”) is level A and the lowest 
rank of the Performance Grading is level D. If (i) the Performance Grading for 
the preceding calendar year before a vesting period is level A, the whole tranche 
of share options will be fully vested during the relevant vesting period; (ii) the 
Performance Grading is level B or C, a portion of the tranche of share options 
will be vested during the relevant vesting period; and (iii) the Performance 
Grading is level D, no share options in such tranche will be vested during the 
relevant vesting period. There is no performance target attached to the share 
option granted to the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The closing price of the Company’s shares on 21 July 2023, the last trading day 
immediately before the date of grant, was HK$1.510.

The Options were granted on 24 July 2023 has an aggregate estimated fair 
value of HK$87,608,000.

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into the 
model were as follows:

Date of grant 24 July 2023 2023 7 24
Share price at date of grant HK$1.490 1.490
Exercise price HK$1.506 1.506
Expected volatility 50.69% 50.69%
Expected life 10 years 10
Risk-free rate 3.49% 3.49%
Expected dividend yield 2.1% 2.1%

The variables and assumptions used in the computing the fair value of the 
Options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies 
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Expected volatility was determined by using the annualised standard deviation 
of historical share price daily movements of selected comparable companies 
in same industry. The expected life used in the model was based on directors’ 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

Share Options Scheme granted by the intermediate holding company
Certain subsidiaries of the Company receive the share option incentive plans 
from Luxshare. Their exercise prices of the share options, as well as the vesting 
periods of the share options are determined by the respective board of directors 
of Luxshare at their sole discretion and in accordance with the relevant rules. 
The share options of Luxshare granted are normally vested by several tranches. 
Grantees of the share options are the employees of Luxshare and its subsidiaries, 
including the Group. As the Group has no obligation to settle the share options, 
they are accounted for using the equity-settled share-based payment method.

The Group recognised the share-based payments of HK$41,450,000 (nine 
months ended 31 December 2023: HK$23,199,000) for the year ended 31 
December 2024.
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31.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held 
by directors of the Company and employees of the Group during the periods:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Number of share option

 

Date of grant
Exercise price  
per share Exercisable period

Balance at 
1.1.2024

Exercised 
during the 

year

Cancelled/
forfeited 

during the 
year

Balance at 
31.12.2024

       

Directors
Mr. Cua Tin Yin, Simon
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 2,096,000 – – 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 2,096,000 – – 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 2,096,000 – – 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 2,096,000 – – 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 2,096,000 – – 2,096,000

    

10,480,000 – – 10,480,000
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 1,904,000 – – 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 1,904,000 – – 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 1,904,000 – – 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 1,904,000 – – 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 1,904,000 – – 1,904,000

    

9,520,000 – – 9,520,000
Mr. Ho Hin Shun
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000

    

1,800,000 – – 1,800,000
Mr. Luk Wai Shing
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000

    

1,800,000 – – 1,800,000
Mr. Chan Chung Shun, Eric
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 360,000 – – 360,000

    

1,800,000 – – 1,800,000
    

25,400,000 – – 25,400,000
Employees
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 18,328,000 (2,792,000) (376,000) 15,160,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 18,328,000 – (152,000) 18,176,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 18,328,000 – (152,000) 18,176,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 18,328,000 – (152,000) 18,176,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 18,328,000 – (152,000) 18,176,000

    

91,640,000 (2,792,000) (984,000) 87,864,000
Service Providers
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 264,000 – – 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 264,000 – – 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 264,000 – – 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 264,000 – – 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 264,000 – – 264,000

    

1,320,000 – – 1,320,000
    

118,360,000 (2,792,000) (984,000) 114,584,000
    

31. 
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31.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

Nine months ended 31 December 2023

Number of share option

 

Date of grant
Exercise price  
per share Exercisable period

Balance at 
1.4.2023

Granted 
during the 

period
Balance at 

31.12.2023

      

Directors
Mr. Cua Tin Yin, Simon
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 2,096,000 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 2,096,000 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 2,096,000 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 2,096,000 2,096,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 2,096,000 2,096,000

   

– 10,480,000 10,480,000
Mr. Wong Chi Kuen
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 1,904,000 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 1,904,000 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 1,904,000 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 1,904,000 1,904,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 1,904,000 1,904,000

   

– 9,520,000 9,520,000
Mr. Ho Hin Shun
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000

   

– 1,800,000 1,800,000
Mr. Luk Wai Shing
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000

   

– 1,800,000 1,800,000
Mr. Chan Chung Shun, Eric
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 360,000 360,000

   

– 1,800,000 1,800,000
   

– 25,400,000 25,400,000
Employees
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 18,328,000 18,328,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 18,328,000 18,328,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 18,328,000 18,328,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 18,328,000 18,328,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 18,328,000 18,328,000

   

– 91,640,000 91,640,000
Service Providers
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2024-23.7.2033 – 264,000 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2025-23.7.2033 – 264,000 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2026-23.7.2033 – 264,000 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2027-23.7.2033 – 264,000 264,000
24.7.2023 HK$1.506 24.7.2028-23.7.2033 – 264,000 264,000

   

– 1,320,000 1,320,000
   

– 118,360,000 118,360,000
   

31. 
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31.	SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION (CONTINUED)

Note:

(1)	 The number of share options available for grant under the Group’s share option 
scheme was 76,235,200 as at 1 January 2024 (1 April 2023: 194,595,200) and 
77,219,200 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 76,235,200), respectively.

(2)	 The number of share options available for grant under the Service Provider sublimit 
of the Group’s share option scheme was 18,139,520 as at 1 January 2024 (1 April 
2023: 19,459,520) and 18,139,520 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 
18,139,520), respectively.

(3)	 As at 31 December 2024, options to subscribe for a total of 114,584,000 shares (31 
December 2023: 118,360,000 shares) were granted under the Group’s share option 
scheme, representing 5.88% (31 December 2023: 6.08%) of the weighted average 
number of issued ordinary shares of the Company.

(4)	 During the year ended 31 December 2024, 2,792,000 options have been exercised, 
a total of 224,000 share options were cancelled and a total of 760,000 share options 
were forfeited. During the nine months ended 31 December 2023, no option has been 
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Group’s share option scheme.

32.	CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition 
of property, plant and equipment contracted 
but not provided for in the consolidated 
financial statements

 

11,738 25,192
  

33.	RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying 
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group 
contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the scheme, subject to a cap 
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 of employees, which contribution 
is matched by the employees. The Group also makes voluntary contribution in 
addition to the mandatory contribution.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the government of the PRC. 
The subsidiary is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to 
the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the 
Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified 
contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$84,744,000 (nine months 
ended 31 December 2023: HK$63,980,000) for the year ended 31 December 
2024 represent contributions paid and payable to these plans by the Group at 
rates specified in the rules of the plans.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had no forfeited 
contributions (nine months ended 31 December 2023: Nil) under these 
retirement benefits schemes were used by the Group to reduce its existing 
level of contributions. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no forfeited 
contributions available to reduce its contributions in future years (31 December 
2023: Nil).

31. 
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34.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	 Transactions and balances with Luxshare Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the 
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the following 
transactions with Luxshare Group. The majority of these transactions also 
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined under Chapter 
14A of Listing Rules:

Year ended 
31.12.2024

Nine months ended 
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Sales (note 2) 2 150,768 56,956
Subcontracting fee income (note 2) 2 3,127 5,064
Other service income (note 2) 2 – 90
Purchase (note 2) 2 38,372 92,488
Manufacturing cost paid (note 2) 2 2,503 1,170
Utility fee paid 16,489 9,187
Information System Technical Support 

Services fee paid 1,305 1,981
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 684 719
Repayment of lease liabilities 11,813 8,610
Interest expenses arising from loans from 

related companies
 

50,050 54,129
Sundry fee paid 12,816 9,342
Additions of property, plant and equipment 10,046 39,086
Proceeds from loan from related companies 

(note 1)
 

1 2,331,874 2,090,871
Repayment of loans from related companies (2,852,378) (2,363,705)

  

The outstanding balances related to transactions with Luxshare Group are 
included in the following accounts captions summarised as follows:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables (note 20) 20 75,885 60,812
Deposit and other receivable 20,326 96
Trade payables (note 23) 23 34,114 52,125
Lease liabilities 10,095 21,332
Amounts due to related companies (note 27) 27 13,022 6,215
Loans from related companies (note 27) 27 1,147,472 1,671,076

  

Note:

(1)	 During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has signed several 
loan agreements with Luxshare Group for working capital of the Group at an 
aggregate amount of USD20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$155,782,000) and 
RMB1,993,305,000 (equivalent to HK$2,176,092,000). Interests were charged 
ranged from 2.5% per annum to 3% per annum for these borrowings.

(2)	 The Group has made sales of cable products to, purchases of inventories 
from, provide subcontracting service to and payment of manufacturing cost to 
Luxshare Group during the period/year, which constitute continuing connected 
transactions to the Group.

34. 
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34.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:

Year ended  
31.12.2024

Nine months ended  
31.12.2023

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Short-term employee benefits 29,311 21,473
Equity-settled share-based payments 13,482 6,857
Retirement benefits schemes contributions 1,525 1,207

  

44,318 29,537
  

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the 
remuneration committee and the executive directors, having regard to the 
performance of individuals and market trends.

35.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

The statement of financial position of the Company is as follows:

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 805,436 805,436
Property, plant and equipment 6,733 7,611
Right of use assets 1,951 4,552
Associate 1,502 –
Rental deposits 771 771

  

816,393 818,370
  

Current assets
Other receivables 1,531 816
Amounts due from a subsidiary 8,482 409
Bank balances and cash 1,321 1,248

  

11,334 2,473
  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 924 15,616
Lease liabilities 2,282 2,889
Amount due to a subsidiary 394,110 394,965
Amount due to a related company 631 466
Bank borrowings – 32,444

  

397,947 446,380
  

Net current liabilities (386,613) (443,907)
  

Total assets less current liabilities 429,780 374,463
  

Non-current liability
Lease liabilities – 2,282

  

Net assets 429,780 372,281
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 19,487 19,460
Reserves (note) 410,293 352,721

  

Total equity 429,780 372,181
  

34. 
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35.	STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

Share  
premium

Capital  
reserve

Share  
options  
reserve

Accumulated  
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 323,485 7,324 – 14,972 345,781
Profit and total comprehensive income  

for the period – – – 14,711 14,711
Dividends declared (Note 14) 14 – – – (24,325) (24,325)
Recognition of equity-settled  

share-based payments
 

– – 16,554 – 16,554
     

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 323,485 7,324 16,554 5,358 352,721
Profit and total comprehensive income  

for the year – – – 54,136 54,136
Dividends declared (Note 14) 14 – – – (33,092) (33,092)
Exercise of share options 6,222 – (2,045) – 4,177
Recognition of equity-settled  

share-based payments
 

– – 32,351 – 32,351
Cancellation of share options – – (106) 106 –

     

At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 329,707 7,324 46,754 26,508 410,293
     

36.	PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of 
issued share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued share 

capital held by the Company Principal activities
   

31.12.2024 31.12.2023      
Directly held

Time Interconnect Investment Limited BVI USD10,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Linkz Cables Limited BVI HK$8,390,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held

Time Interconnect Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 100% Trading of cable assembly products

Time Interconnect (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of cable assembly products

TIME Interconnect Technology (Huizhou) Limited (Note a)
a

PRC USD28,602,860 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of cable 
assembly products

Huizhou Chuangxiang Technology Limited (Note d)
d

PRC RMB145,250,100 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of cable 
assembly products

Time Robotics Technology (Shanghai) Limited  
(Note d and e)

PRC RMB4,056,550 – 100% Manufacturing and trading of robotic 
products

d e

 (Note d and e)
d e

PRC RMB683,890 – 100% Development and trading of 
computer softwares

Linkz International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of digital cables products

Linkz (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding

35. 
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36.	PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows: (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of 
issued share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued share 

capital held by the Company Principal activities
   

31.12.2024 31.12.2023      

Linkz Industries (Shanghai) Limited (Notes b and c)
b c

PRC USD15,000,000 95% 95% Manufacturing and trading of digital 
cables products

Linkz Industries (Suzhou) Limited (Note a)
a

PRC USD30,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of digital 
cables products

Hover Manufacturing Company Limited Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding

Hover (Kunshan) Electronic Material Company Limited 
(Note a)

PRC HK$30,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of digital cables 
products

a

 (Note d)
d

PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of digital cables 
products

Time Interconnect Wire Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$68,935,878 100% 100% Trading of automotive wire harness 
products

Time Interconnect Wire Technology (Huizhou) Limited  
(Note d)

PRC RMB29,975,300 100% 100% Manufacturing of automotive wire 
harness products

d

Linkz Cables Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico MXN50,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of digital cables and 
automotive wire harness products

Time X-Ware Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of server and medical 
products

Da Chuang Precision Intelligent Manufacturing 
(Dongguan) Co., Limited (Note a)

PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Trading of server products

a

Da Chuang Precision Intelligent Manufacturing  
(Kunshan) Co., Limited (Note d)

d

PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of server 
products

Time Da Chuang Information (Shanghai) Limited (Note d)
d

PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Development of service products

Time Interconnect Technology (Kunshan) Limited  
(Note d)

PRC RMB250,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of 
medical equipment cable products

d

Time Interconnect Technology (Jiangxi) Limited (Note d)
d

PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing and trading of 
medical equipment cable products

36. 
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36.	PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31 
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows: (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of 
issued share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of nominal 
value of issued share 

capital held by the Company Principal activities
   

31.12.2024 31.12.2023      

Da Chuang Precision Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% – Trading of server products

Da Chuang Investment Limited Cayman Island USD1 100% – Investment holding

COSMIC M.E. INC. Japan JPY90,000,000 71.4% – Manufacturing and trading of 
electronic medical products

Time Interconnect America Inc USA USD50,000 100% – Liaison office

Time Interconnect Medtech UK Limited UK GBP50,000 100% – Liaison office

Notes:

(a)	 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Wholly Foreign-owned 
Enterprises.

(b)	 The company was established as sino-foreign joint venture registered under the PRC 
law.

(c)	 The non-wholly owned subsidiary has immaterial non-controlling interest and related 
financial information is not disclosed.

(d)	 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of indirectly wholly owned 
subsidiaries.

(e)	 These companies have been deregistered during the year.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the year ended 31 
December 2024 and period ended 31 December 2023.

36. 
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37.	CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able 
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders 
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes lease 
liabilities, bank borrowings and amounts due to/loans from related companies 
in notes 25, 26 and 27 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity 
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and 
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. 
As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital 
and the risks associated with the capital. Based on recommendations of the 
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure 
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and raising or repayment 
of bank borrowings and amount due to/loans from related companies.

38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.	 Categories of financial instruments

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 2,060,125 3,442,447
Financial assets at FVTPL 10,231 –

  

2,070,356 3,442,447
  

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2,931,640 4,520,159
Financial liabilities at FVTPL – 5,088

  

2,931,640 4,525,247
  

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL, 
trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade 
and other payables, bank borrowings, amounts due to related companies, 
loans from related companies, lease liabilities and derivative financial 
instrument. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective 
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies 
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of the 
Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure that appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to the fixed-
rate pledged bank deposits, lease liabilities, bank borrowings and loans 
from related companies. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest 
rate risk in relation to variable rate bank balances and bank borrowings 
(see notes 22, 25, 26 and 27 for details of the balance). The Group cash 
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest 
rates on bank balances and HIBOR and PRC loan prime rate arising from 
the Group’s bank borrowings. The Group currently does not have a policy 
on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the management of the 
Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant 
interest rate risk should the need arise.

37. 
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38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure 
to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is prepared 
assuming that variable rate bank borrowings outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year/period. 50 basis point 
(31 December 2023: 50 basis point) increase or decrease represents the 
assessment management of the Group of the reasonably possible change 
in interest rates of bank borrowings. No sensitivity analysis is presented for 
bank balances as the directors of the Company considered the Group’s 
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is not material.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (31 December 2023: 50 basis point) 
higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would decrease or increase 
by HK$1,006,000 (nine months ended 31 December 2023: HK$4,758,000). 

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the 
inherent interest rate risk as the exposure at the end of the reporting period 
does not reflect the exposure during the year/period.

Foreign currency risk
The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets (mainly including 
trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances and 
cash) and monetary liabilities (mainly including trade and other payables, 
bank borrowings and loans amount from related companies) denominated 
in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional currencies 
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

HK$ against USD 4,416 5,787 501,228 647,557
RMB against USD 240 12,214 1,346 1,308
Euro against USD 2,483 2,168 666 2,966
USD against RMB 45,256 208,939 674,787 1,360,633
USD against HK$ 46 16 90 –

    

Other than above, several subsidiaries of the Group have the following 
intra-group receivables (payables) denominated in HK$ and USD, which are 
foreign currencies of the relevant group entities.

Amounts due from (to) group entities

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

HK$ against USD 218 235
USD against RMB 555,163 207,867

  

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in 
respect of foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors 
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging 
significant currency exposure should the need arise.

38. 
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38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk of USD, HK$, RMB 
and Euro. Under the pegged exchange rate system, the financial impact 
on exchange difference between HK$ and USD will be immaterial, and 
therefore no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

The sensitivity analysis below details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase 
and decrease in USD against RMB and Euro. 5% is the sensitivity rate used 
which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 
change in foreign currency rate. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s 
monetary assets, monetary liabilities and amounts due from/to group 
entities denominated in RMB, Euro and USD. A positive (negative) number 
indicates a decrease (increase) in post-tax profit when USD strengthens 5% 
against RMB and Euro. For a 5% weakening of USD against RMB and Euro, 
there would be an equal but opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the 
year/period.

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

RMB against USD (46) 455
Euro against USD 76 (33)
USD against RMB (1,615) (35,067)

  

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity analysis is 
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk as the year/period 
end exposures do not reflect the exposure during the year/period.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on 
their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, trade 
receivables from fellow subsidiaries, other receivables, contract assets, bills 
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances. The Group does 
not hold any collateral to cover its credit risks associated with its financial 
assets but maintains credit insurance policies to insure trade receivables 
with details mentioned below to insure counterparty risks with customers.

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivables from fellow 
subsidiaries and contract assets)
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has 
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit 
approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal 
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers 
are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures are in place to 
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, 
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade 
balances individually. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider 
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivables from fellow 
subsidiaries and contract assets) (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has concentration of credit 
risk as 1% (31 December 2023: 30%) and 47% (31 December 2023: 66%) 
of trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and five 
largest customers, respectively. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has the 
concentration risk from customer A, customer B, and customer C amounted 
for a total of 31% (31 December 2023: 41%) of trade balances. They are 
international well-known companies engaging in telecommunications and 
global networking industries and/or with strong financial backgrounds. The 
Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical location is mainly in 
the PRC which accounted for 63% (31 December 2023: 76%) of trade 
receivables as at 31 December 2024.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal 
credit rating for its customers. The following table provides information 
about the exposure to credit risk for trade balances that are assessed 
individually as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 within lifetime 
ECL (not credit-impaired).

Gross carrying amount
31.12.2024 31.12.2023

  

Credit rating
Average  
loss rate

Trade 
receivables

Trade 
receivables 

from fellow 
subsidiaries

Contract 
assets

Average  
loss rate

Trade 
receivables

Trade 
receivables 

from a fellow 
subsidiary

Contract  
assets

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

          

Strong 0.05 729,542 75,885 66,560 0.05 751,864 60,812 20,279
Good 0.25 563,681 – – 0.25 1,287,630 – –
Satisfactory 3.90 91,951 – – 3.90 25,896 – –
Watch list 13.00 1,665 – – 13.00 – – –

      

1,386,839 75,885 66,560 2,065,390 60,812 20,279
      

Quality classification definitions:

“Strong” : The counterparty has very low risk of default and a 
prompt payment pattern. They are international well-
known companies with strong financial background.

“Good” : The counterparty has low default risk and has strong 
financial background.

“Satisfactory” : The counterparty has moderate default risk and 
occasionally repays after due dates, but with fair 
financial background.

“Watch list” : The counterparty has moderate default risk and 
frequently repays after due dates, but with fair 
financial background. They require special attention 
from the management of the Group.
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38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade balances (including trade receivables, trade receivables from related 
companies and contract assets) (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and nine months ended 
31 December 2023, trade receivables, trade receivables from fellow 
subsidiaries and contract assets were assessed individually with considering 
the financial background and the historical settlement records, including 
the past due dates and default rates of each trade balance and forward-
looking information that is reasonable, supportable and available without 
undue costs or effort. Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed 
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for 
forward-looking information. During the year ended 31 December 2024, 
those trade balances are assessed under lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 
and the Group provided allowance for credit losses of HK$643,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$1,331,000). As at 31 December 2024, the allowance 
for credit losses is HK$5,305,000 (31 December 2023: HK$4,662,000).

Other receivables and rental deposits
Other receivables and rental deposits amounted to HK$28,137,000 
(31 December 2023: HK$4,758,000) were assessed individually for ECL. 
The Group has considered the consistently low historical default rate in 
connection with payments and concluded that credit risk inherent in the 
Group’s other receivables and rental deposits are insignificant and no loss 
allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bills receivables
For pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bills receivables, the directors 
of the Company considered the probability of default is negligible on the 
basis of high-credit-rating issuers as such amounts were receivable from 
or placed in banks with high external credit rating of A or above, no 
loss allowance was recognised as amounts involved were considered as 
insignificant.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains 
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management 
of the Group to finance the Group’s operations. The management of the 
Group also monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance 
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for 
their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity date for 
other non-derivative financial liabilities is based on the agreed repayment 
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that 
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from 
current interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity risk tables
Weighted 

average 
effective 

interest rate

On demand  
or less than  

3 months
3 months  
to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amounts

   

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

          
31 December 2024 2024 12 31
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities
Trade and other payables N/A 1,277,107 194,518 – – – 1,471,625 1,471,625
Lease liabilities 4.50 7,661 17,250 17,588 14,270 5,113 61,882 56,362
Bank borrowings (note) 3.92 130,190 109,254 1,220 4,866 – 245,530 243,159
Amount due to related companies N/A 13,022 – – – – 13,022 13,022
Loans from related companies 3.00 501,510 645,962 – – – 1,147,472 1,147,472       

1,929,490 966,984 18,808 19,136 5,113 2,939,531 2,931,640       
31 December 2023 2023 12 31
Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial instrument N/A 5,088 – – – – 5,088 5,088
Non-derivative financial 

liabilities
Trade and other payables N/A 1,472,641 58,635 – – – 1,531,276 1,531,276
Lease liabilities 4.72 3,514 22,400 20,792 23,655 845 71,206 65,017
Bank borrowings (note) 3.82 377,425 794,961 44,845 50,457 – 1,267,688 1,246,575
Amount due to related companies N/A 6,215 – – – – 6,215 6,215
Loans from related companies 3.46 607,733 598,403 513,200 – – 1,719,156 1,671,076       

2,472,616 1,474,399 578,657 74,112 845 4,600,629 4,525,247       

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in 
the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band in the above maturity 
analysis. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of these 
bank borrowings amounted to HK$64,895,000 (31 December 2023: Nil). 
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the 
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their 
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of the 
Company believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid within 1 year 
(31 December 2023: nil) after the end of the reporting period in accordance 
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the 
aggregate principal and interest cash outflows according to the scheduled 
repayment dates are set out as follows:

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On demand  
or less than  

3 months
3 months  
to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amounts

  

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
         

Bank borrowings
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 5.84 64,895 – – – 64,895 64,895

       

At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 – – – – – – –
       

38. 

b. 

2024 12 31
64,895,000 2023 12 31

2023 12 31



168

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT‘D)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 2024 12 31

匯聚科技有限公司 TIME INTERCONNECT TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

38.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

c.	 Fair value measured of financial instruments
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis
Some financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how 
the fair values of these financial assets and liabilities are determined (in 
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the level 
of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are 
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the 
fair value measurements is observable.

Fair value at
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation  
techniques and key inputs

31.12.2024 31.12.2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

      
Financial assets
Derivative financial instrument 10,231 – Level 2 Discounting the contractual 

forward price and deducting 
the current forward rate

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instrument – 5,088 Level 2 Discounting the contractual 

forward price and deducting 
the current forward rate

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 and nine months ended 31 December 2023.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of 
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost 
approximate to their fair values.

38. 
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39.	RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from 
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows 
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash 
flows from financing activities.

Loans from 
related 

companies

Amount due 
to related 

companies

Derivative 
financial 
liabilities

Bank 
borrowings

Dividend 
payable

Lease 
liabilities Total

  

(note 27) (note 27) (note 26) (note 25)
27 27 26 25

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

         
At 1 April 2023 2023 4 1 1,964,184 508,328 – 1,348,070 – 68,880 3,889,462
Financing cash flows (304,570) (493,369) – (140,452) (9,730) (19,463) (967,584)
Finance costs recognised (note 9) 9 54,129 – – 32,109 – 2,341 88,579
Dividends declared (note 14) 14 – – – – 24,325 – 24,325
Fair value change (note 8) 8 – – 5,177 – – – 5,177
New lease entered – – – – – 15,359 15,359
Exchange realignment (42,667) (8,744) (89) 6,848 – (2,100) (46,752)       
At 31 December 2023 2023 12 31 1,671,076 6,215 5,088 1,246,575 14,595 65,017 3,008,566
Financing cash flows (566,479) 7,216 – (1,006,031) (47,687) (26,179) (1,639,160)
Finance costs recognised (note 9) 9 50,050 – – 20,135 – 3,058 73,243
Dividends declared (note 14) 14 – – – – 33,092 – 33,092
Fair value change (note 8) 8 – – (5,088) – – – (5,088)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 40) 40 – – – 7,915 – – 7,915
New lease entered – – – – – 17,341 17,341
Exchange realignment (7,175) (409) – (25,435) – (2,875) (35,894)       
At 31 December 2024 2024 12 31 1,147,472 13,022 – 243,159 – 56,362 1,460,015       

39. 
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40.	ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 17 July 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary, Time Interconnect (HK) Limited 
(“Time HK”), entered into a capital increase agreement with Cosmic M.E. 
Inc. (“CME”), a limited liability company established in Japan, to inject 
JPY80,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,922,000) in cash as capital 
contribution into CME, accordingly the Group held 71.43% of equity interest 
in CME. Completion of the capital injection took place on 8 July 2024 and the 
acquisition was satisfied by the issue of 500 new shares of the Company. The 
principal activity of CME is provision of developing, manufacturing and selling 
of electronic medical instruments and other medical equipment and devices.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group is regarded as having control 
over CME. As such, CME is accounted for as non-wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Company, and the financial results of CME is consolidated into the results 
of the Group. A gain on bargain purchase of approximately HK$397,000 was 
recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, as a result 
of the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and payable, 
and the fair value of the net assets acquired, which are the fair value of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed to their values with reference 
to the valuation report prepared by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent 
qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group.

Acquisition-related cost to HK$2,522,000 have been excluded from the 
consideration transferred and have been recognised as an expense in the 
current year and included in “professional fees and cost relating to acquisition 
of business” line item in the consolidated statement of profit of loss and other 
comprehensive income.

The fair values of the net assets acquired in the Acquisition are as follows:

HK$’000

   

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment (note 15) 15 1,342
Intangible asset (note 17) 17 495
Inventories 11,171
Deferred tax assets (note 28) 28 776
Trade and other receivable 3,414
Bank balance and cash 467
Trade and other payables (7,154)
Bank borrowings (7,915)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 28) 28 (472)

 

Net identifiable assets acquired 2,124
Less: non-controlling interests (1,727)
Less: gain on bargain purchase (397)

 

Consideration transferred –
 

40. 
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40.	ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables of CME at the date of 
acquisition amounted to approximately HK$3,414,000 which approximates to 
the gross contractual amounts. Based on the best estimate at acquisition date, 
the contractual cash flows are expected to be fully collected.

The non-controlling interests in CME of approximately HK$1,728,000 
recognised at the acquisition date was measured with reference to the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of CME 
at that date.

Net cash inflow from acquisition:

HK$’000

   

Cash consideration –
Add: cash and cash equivalent  

balances acquired 467
 

Net cash inflow from acquisition 467
 

Since the acquisition, CME has contributed revenue of approximately 
HK$6,421,000 to the Group’s turnover and loss of approximately HK$2,486,000 
to the Group’s loss for the year. Had the acquisition been completed on 1 
January 2024, the consolidated pro forma revenue and loss for the year ended 
31 December 2024 would have been approximately HK$18,875,000 and loss of 
approximately HK$3,555,000 respectively.

The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily 
an indication of the total revenue and loss after tax of the Group that actually 
would have been achieved had the acquisition been taken place at the beginning 
of the year, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.
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RESULTS

For the year ended 31.3

For the nine  
months  

ended 31.12

For the  
year  

ended 31.12

3 31

 
12 31  

 
12 31  

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Revenue 3,008,019 3,590,117 5,764,839 4,826,252 7,388,751
     

Profit before taxation 268,111 232,855 256,240 342,463 535,731
Taxation (41,480) (64,582) (40,354) (64,856) (85,230)

     

Profit for the year/period 226,631 168,273 215,886 277,607 450,501
     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31.3 At 31.12
3 31 12 31

2021 2022 2023 2023 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Total assets 2,598,964 3,182,762 6,106,964 6,162,460 5,028,209
Total liabilities (1,734,563) (2,119,317) (4,962,894) (4,789,449) (3,249,161)

     

Net assets 864,401 1,063,445 1,144,070 1,373,011 1,779,048
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